Lie–Hamilton systems on Riemannian and Lorentzian spaces from conformal transformations and some of their applications

Rutwig Campoamor-Stursberg^{1,2}, Oscar Carballal² and Francisco J. Herranz³

 1 Instituto de Matemática Interdisciplinar, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, E-28040 Madrid, Spain

² Departamento de Álgebra, Geometría y Topología, Facultad de Ciencias Matemáticas, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Plaza de Ciencias 3, E-28040 Madrid, Spain

³ Departamento de Física, Universidad de Burgos, E-09001 Burgos, Spain

E-mail: rutwig@ucm.es, oscarbal@ucm.es, fjherranz@ubu.es

Abstract

We propose a generalization of two classes of Lie–Hamilton systems on the Euclidean plane to two-dimensional curved spaces, leading to novel Lie–Hamilton systems on Riemannian spaces (flat 2-torus, product of hyperbolic lines, sphere and hyperbolic plane), pseudo-Riemannian spaces (anti-de Sitter, de Sitter, and Minkowski spacetimes), as well as to semi-Riemannian spaces (Newtonian or non-relativistic spacetimes). The vector fields, Hamiltonian functions, symplectic form and constants of the motion of the Euclidean classes are recovered by a contraction process. The construction is based on the structure of certain subalgebras of the so-called conformal algebras of the two-dimensional Cayley–Klein spaces. These curved Lie–Hamilton classes allow us to generalize naturally the Riccati, Kummer–Schwarz and Ermakov equations on the Euclidean plane to curved spaces, covering both the Riemannian and Lorentzian possibilities, and where the curvature can be considered as an integrable deformation parameter of the initial Euclidean system.

Keywords: Cayley–Klein geometries; Lie systems; nonlinear superposition rules; constants of motion; Ermakov equation; Riccati equations; Kummer–Schwarz equations

MSC 2020 codes: 34A26 (Primary), 17B66, 70G45, 34A34 (Secondary)

PACS 2010 codes: 02.20.Sv, 02.30.Hq, 02.40.Dr, 02.40.Ky

Contents

1	Introduction	3				
2	2 Conformal symmetries of Cayley–Klein spaces revisited					
	2.1 Coordinate systems on the Cayley–Klein spaces	8				
	2.2 Conformal Cayley–Klein algebras	12				
3	The class I_4 of Lie–Hamilton systems on curved spaces	14				
	3.1 Constants of the motion of the curved I_4 -class	16				
	3.2 Superposition rules for the curved I_4 -class	17				
4 Applications of the curved I_4 -class						
	4.1 Curved split-complex Riccati equation	20				
	4.2 A curved diffusion Riccati system	22				
	4.3 Curved Kummer–Schwarz equation for $c < 0$	23				
	4.4 Curved Ermakov equation for $c < 0$	24				
5	The class P_2 of Lie–Hamilton systems on curved spaces	26				
	5.1 Constants of the motion of the curved P_2 -class $\ldots \ldots $	29				
	5.2 Superposition rules for the curved P_2 -class	30				
6 Applications of the curved P ₂ -class						
	6.1 Curved complex Riccati equation	32				
	6.2 Curved Kummer–Schwarz equation for $c > 0$	33				
	6.3 Curved Ermakov equation for $c > 0$	34				
7	7 Conclusions and final remarks					
A	Acknowledgments					
A	Appendix. Fundamental relations of κ -trigonometric functions					
R	References					

1 Introduction

A Lie system is a time-dependent system of first-order ordinary differential equations (ODEs in short) in normal form that admits a superposition rule, i.e., a time-independent map through which the general solution of the system is expressed in terms of a generic finite family of particular solutions and some constants related to the initial conditions [1-5]. The fundamental Lie–Scheffers theorem states that a Lie system is equivalent to a time-dependent vector field that can be seen as a curve taking values in a finite-dimensional Lie algebra of vector fields, a so-called Vessiot–Guldberg Lie algebra (VG Lie algebra in short) [6].

A Lie-Hamilton system (LH system in short) is a Lie system whose VG Lie algebra is formed by Hamiltonian vector fields with respect to a certain symplectic structure. These enriched Lie systems have been widely studied and classified under local diffeomorphisms on the real plane (see [7, 8] and references therein). One of the most remarkable properties of LH systems is that they allow an algorithmic computation of time-independent constants of the motion through the so-called *coalgebra formalism*, hence eventually simplifying the deduction of a superposition rule [9].

In order to explicitly state our main objectives, let us consider the so-called *Ermakov equa*tion [10] on the Euclidean line $\mathbf{E}^1 := \mathbb{R}$ (see also [11–14] and references therein), given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 u}{\mathrm{d} t^2} = -\Omega^2(t)u + \frac{c}{u^3}, \qquad c \in \mathbb{R},$$

where $\Omega(t)$ is any t-dependent real or pure imaginary function. Recall that this equation is also known as the Milne–Pinney equation [15, 16] and that it is equivalent to the following first-order system of ODEs on the Euclidean plane $\mathbf{E}^2 := \mathbb{R}^2$:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = v, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\Omega^2(t)u + \frac{c}{u^3}.$$
(1.1)

Hence this system is associated with the *t*-dependent vector field $\mathbf{X} : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbf{E}^2 \to T\mathbf{E}^2$ given by

$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{X}_3 + \Omega^2(t)\mathbf{X}_1,\tag{1.2}$$

where the vector fields

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = -u\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_2 = \frac{1}{2}\left(v\frac{\partial}{\partial v} - u\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\right), \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = v\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{c}{u^3}\frac{\partial}{\partial v} \tag{1.3}$$

fulfil the commutation relations

$$[\mathbf{X}_1, \mathbf{X}_2] = \mathbf{X}_1, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_1, \mathbf{X}_3] = 2\mathbf{X}_2, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_2, \mathbf{X}_3] = \mathbf{X}_3.$$
 (1.4)

Therefore they span a VG Lie algebra V^X of \mathbf{X} (1.2) isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}) \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2, 1)$ for any value of the constant c [7–9]. Hence, the *t*-dependent vector field \mathbf{X} (or its associated equation (1.1)) is a Lie system (see [5] and references therein).

In addition, the vector fields (1.3) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the canonical symplectic form

$$\omega = \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v \tag{1.5}$$

on \mathbf{E}^2 , as they satisfy the invariance condition

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}_i}\omega = 0, \qquad 1 \le i \le 3. \tag{1.6}$$

In order to clarify the terminology used throughout the paper, we observe that, as we always deal with vector fields and a symplectic form ω , the condition on the vanishing of the Lie derivative with respect to ω implies that the vector field is locally Hamiltonian (also called symplectic in the literature, see for instance [17]). In the particular case of the Ermakov system, as the domain of the latter is contractible, it can be inferred that the Hamiltonian functions are globally defined.

The associated Hamiltonian functions of the vector fields (1.3) are then determined by the inner product

$$\iota_{\mathbf{X}_i}\omega = \mathrm{d}h_i, \qquad 1 \le i \le 3,\tag{1.7}$$

turning out to be

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2}u^2, \qquad h_2 = -\frac{1}{2}uv, \qquad h_3 = \frac{1}{2}\left(v^2 + \frac{c}{u^2}\right).$$
 (1.8)

The Poisson bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\omega}$, induced by ω , of the above functions leads to

$${h_1, h_2}_{\omega} = -h_1, \qquad {h_1, h_3}_{\omega} = -2h_2, \qquad {h_2, h_3}_{\omega} = -h_3,$$
(1.9)

so that they span a Lie–Hamilton algebra (LH algebra in short) $\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \simeq \mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$. The Casimir element \mathcal{C} , that Poisson commutes with h_i , reads

$$\mathcal{C} = h_1 h_3 - h_2^2, \tag{1.10}$$

which under the functional realization (1.8) gives the constant

$$\mathcal{C} = c/4. \tag{1.11}$$

Consequently, the *t*-dependent vector field \mathbf{X} (1.2) not only determines a Lie system but also a LH system [5].

It is worth noting that if we identify (u, v) with the usual canonical variables (q, p) of $T^*\mathbb{R}$ in classical mechanics, the Ermakov system (1.1) can also be obtained from the Hamilton equations determined by the *t*-dependent Hamiltonian given by (see (1.2))

$$h = h_3 + \Omega^2(t)h_1 = \frac{1}{2}p^2 + \frac{1}{2}\Omega^2(t)q^2 + \frac{c}{2q^2}.$$

In this form, h can be interpreted as the one-dimensional (1D) t-dependent counterpart [7–9] of the Smorodinsky–Winternitz oscillator [18], with time-dependent frequency $\Omega(t)$, unit mass and with a Rosochatius or Winternitz potential depending on the constant c; note that the latter is in fact a centrifugal barrier whenever c > 0 (see [19] and references therein).

Consequently, although the value of the parameter c does not interfere in the algebraic part of the LH structure associated with the Ermakov equation (1.1), the sign of c (1.11) does matter. This leads to three types of submanifolds determined by the surfaces with constant value of the Casimir C for the Poisson structure of $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ [20]. This result agrees perfectly with the classification of LH systems on the Euclidean plane [7, 8]. Explicitly, there are three different classes of nondiffeomorphic $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ -LH systems on \mathbf{E}^2 , which are distinguished among them by the value of c: class P₂ for c > 0; class I₄ for c < 0; and class I₅ for c = 0. This means that there does not exist any local diffeomorphism mapping one class into another, so that any LH system related to a VG Lie algebra of Hamiltonian vector fields isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ must be, up to a local change of coordinates, of the form (1.1) for a positive, zero or negative value of c.

The resulting (Hamiltonian) vector fields corresponding to one representative from each of these three classes are displayed in Table 1 in Cartesian coordinates (x, y), along with its associated

Class	Vector fields \mathbf{X}_i	Hamiltonian functions h_i	ω	Domain	Casimir
P_2	$\partial_x, \ x\partial_x + y\partial_y, \ (x^2 - y^2)\partial_x + 2xy\partial_y$	$-\frac{1}{y}, -\frac{x}{y}, -\frac{x^2+y^2}{y}$	$\frac{\mathrm{d}x\wedge\mathrm{d}y}{y^2}$	$\mathbb{R}^2_{y \neq 0}$	1
I_4	$\partial_x + \partial_y, \ x\partial_x + y\partial_y, \ x^2\partial_x + y^2\partial_y$	$\frac{1}{x-y}, \ \frac{x+y}{2(x-y)}, \ \frac{xy}{x-y}$	$\frac{\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y}{(x-y)^2}$	$\mathbb{R}^2_{x \neq y}$	$-\frac{1}{4}$
I_5	$\partial_x, \ x\partial_x + \frac{1}{2}y\partial_y, \ x^2\partial_x + xy\partial_y$	$-\frac{1}{2y^2}, -\frac{x}{2y^2}, -\frac{x^2}{2y^2}$	$\frac{\mathrm{d}x\wedge\mathrm{d}y}{y^3}$	$\mathbb{R}^2_{y eq 0}$	0

Table 1: Classes P₂, I₄ and I₅ of LH systems on the plane [7, 8]. The VG Lie algebra spanned by the vector fields \mathbf{X}_i ($1 \le i \le 3$) is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}) \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2, 1)$ in the three cases, while the Hamiltonian functions h_i span a LH algebra isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$ with respect to the symplectic form ω .

symplectic form and the constant value of the Casimir (1.10); note that these variables are different from (u, v) such that ω now becomes a non-canonical symplectic form. The vector fields \mathbf{X}_i obey the commutation relations (1.4), while the Hamiltonian functions h_i fulfil (1.9) for the three classes. Recall that, in addition to the Ermakov or Milne–Pinney equation, it has been shown in [7, 8] that $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ -LH systems in Table 1 also comprise several types of Riccati equations [21–31] (see also references therein) and second-order Kummer–Schwarz equations [32–34].

The striking point now is that the vector fields of class P_2 expressed exactly in the form of Table 1 admit a natural geometric interpretation as conformal symmetries of \mathbf{E}^2 . In particular, they span a Lie subalgebra of the conformal Euclidean algebra $\mathfrak{so}(3,1)$ such that the vector field \mathbf{X}_1 corresponds to the generator of translations along the axis x, \mathbf{X}_2 gives rise to dilations and \mathbf{X}_3 provides specific conformal transformations again related to the axis x. Likewise, the vector fields of class I₄ in Table 1 can be directly interpreted as conformal transformations of the space $\mathbf{E}^1 \times \mathbf{E}^1$: \mathbf{X}_1 as the translation, \mathbf{X}_2 as the dilation and \mathbf{X}_3 as the conformal transformation. However, the remaining class I₅ does not allow a conformal interpretation.

These ideas naturally suggest to construct the 'curved' counterparts of the classes P₂ and I₄ by making use of the known conformal symmetries of 2D spaces of constant curvature [35, 36]. Our procedure will make use of a Cayley–Klein (CK) setting that requires to deal with two explicit real (graded) contraction parameters κ_1 and κ_2 . The former corresponds to the constant (Gaussian) curvature of the space, while the latter determines the signature, so the nine 2D CK spaces are collectively denoted by $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$. The three 1D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$ are obtained as suitable submanifolds of some 2D CK spaces. In this way, we will obtain unified expressions that generalize those for P₂ and I₄ presented in Table 1 to the curved spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ and $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$, respectively. In particular, our novel results will cover LH systems on the three classical Riemannian spaces (sphere, Euclidean and hyperbolic), the three Lorentzian (Minkowski and (anti-)de Sitter) and the three Newtonian (Galilei and Newton–Hooke) spacetimes of constant curvature, as well as on the flat 2-torus and the product of two hyperbolic lines. We recall that a similar approach was already developed in [37] for the class P₁ of LH systems, but in that case it was based on the isometries of 2D CK spaces. Similarly, examples of Lie systems admitting a VG Lie algebra of conformal vector fields can also be found in [8, 31, 38] and, for the same reasons pointed out in [37], these results cannot be applied to the new Lie systems we propose in this work.

In addition, in the framework of Lie systems on homogeneous spaces its is worth recalling that in [3, 39] an 'almost' complete classification of superposition rules for *complex* Lie systems with primitive transitive VG Lie algebras of vector fields on homogeneous spaces has been achieved. However, we stress that there are not many results for Lie systems endowed with *real* VG Lie algebras on homogeneous spaces, which constitute a much more difficult task (cf. [3, 39]). In this respect, some results on spheres can be found in [40].

Consequently, the construction developed in [37] constitutes, in fact, the first known example of LH systems on curved Riemannian, Lorenzian and Newtonian spaces, and a superposition rule for all these nine curved systems was obtained in a very geometrical way through the trigonometry of the 2D CK spaces [41]. Nevertheless, no relevant applications were found, as the Euclidean P_1 -LH class does not possess any remarkable system appart from the complex Bernoulli equation [8]. This last point was the main motivation of our novel conformal-based approach, as the Euclidean P_2 and I₄-LH classes comprise several notable applications, as pointed out before.

This paper is structured as follows. After explicitly setting the conformal-based motivation of our work, in Section 2 we review the conformal symmetries of the 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ introduced in [35], from which the conformal symmetries of the 1D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ are deduced. In Section 3 we construct the curved counterpart of the Euclidean I₄-LH class (see Table 1) on the spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ which we call the curved I_4 -LH class. Their t-independent constants of the motion are computed in Subsection 3.1, and a superposition rule for this curved class is derived in Subsection 3.2. In Section 4, some relevant applications of the curved I₄-LH class are given, generalizing to $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ well-known LH systems on the Euclidean plane: curved coupled Riccati equations, a curved splitcomplex Riccati equation, a curved diffusion Riccati system, a curved Kummer–Schwarz equation and a curved Ermakov equation. The same ansatz is applied in Section 5, where we construct the curved P_2 -LH class on the 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$, from which the Euclidean P_2 -LH class (see Table 1) is recovered after contraction. Their t-independent constants of motion are computed in Subsection 5.1, and a superposition rule on those 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ with some $\kappa_i = 0$ is obtained in Subsection 5.2, as the computations in the general case are very cumbersome. In Section 6 we give remarkable applications of the curved P_2 -LH class: a curved complex Riccati equation, a curved Kummer–Schwarz equation and a curved Ermakov equation. Finally, in Section 7, some conclusions and open problems are drawn. In particular, the novel interpretation of the curvature as an integrable deformation parameter of LH systems is addressed to.

2 Conformal symmetries of Cayley–Klein spaces revisited

Let us consider the three-dimensional real Lie algebra $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ with commutation relations

$$[J_{12}, P_1] = P_2, \qquad [J_{12}, P_2] = -P_1, \qquad [P_1, P_2] = J_{12}$$

over a basis $\{P_1, P_2, J_{12}\}$ and with Casimir given by

$$C = P_1^2 + P_2^2 + J_{12}^2.$$

The automorphisms $\Theta_0, \Theta_{01} : \mathfrak{so}(3) \to \mathfrak{so}(3)$ defined by

$$\Theta_0(P_1) = -P_1, \qquad \Theta_0(P_2) = -P_2, \qquad \Theta_0(J_{12}) = J_{12}, \\
\Theta_{01}(P_1) = P_1, \qquad \Theta_{01}(P_2) = -P_2, \qquad \Theta_{01}(J_{12}) = -J_{12}$$
(2.1)

generate a $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ group of commuting involutive automorphisms of $\mathfrak{so}(3)$, inducing the following $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading of $\mathfrak{so}(3)$:

$$\mathfrak{so}(3) = E_{(1,0)} \oplus E_{(0,1)} \oplus E_{(1,1)},$$

where $E_{(1,0)} := \langle P_1 \rangle$, $E_{(0,1)} := \langle J_{12} \rangle$, $E_{(1,1)} := \langle P_2 \rangle$ and $E_{(0,0)} := \{0\}$ satisfy $[E_{(\alpha_1,\alpha_2)}, E_{(\beta_1,\beta_2)}] = E_{(\alpha_1+\beta_1,\alpha_2+\beta_2)}$ for every $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_2$. A particular solution of the set of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded

contractions from $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ leads to a two-parametric family of real Lie algebras, denoted by $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ and given by [42]

$$[J_{12}, P_1] = P_2, \qquad [J_{12}, P_2] = -\kappa_2 P_1, \qquad [P_1, P_2] = \kappa_1 J_{12}, \tag{2.2}$$

where κ_1 and κ_2 are two real graded contraction parameters that can be reduced to either +1, 0 or -1 through a rescaling of the Lie algebra generators. Recall that the vanishment of any κ_i is equivalent to applying an *Inönu–Wigner contraction* [42, 43]. The corresponding Casimir reads

$$C_{\kappa} = \kappa_2 P_1^2 + P_2^2 + \kappa_1 J_{12}^2, \qquad \kappa := (\kappa_1, \kappa_2).$$

The family $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ contains nine specific Lie algebras (some of them isomorphic). Simple Lie algebras arise when both $\kappa_i \neq 0$ ($\mathfrak{so}(3)$ for positive values and $\mathfrak{so}(2,1) \simeq \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ otherwise) as well as non-simple ones when one $\kappa_i = 0$ (the inhomogenous $\mathfrak{iso}(1,1)$, $\mathfrak{iso}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{iiso}(1)$, where $\mathfrak{iso}(1) \equiv \mathbb{R}$). The remarkable fact is that $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ contains all the Lie algebras of the motion groups of the so-called 2D *Cayley–Klein (CK) homogeneous spaces* [44–46] and thus $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ is called a *CK algebra*.

Let us now exhibit the connection between the CK algebras $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ and the 2D CK homogeneous spaces explicitly. The automorphism Θ_0 (2.1) gives rise to the Cartan decomposition

$$\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3) = \mathfrak{h}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{p}_0, \qquad \mathfrak{h}_0 := \langle J_{12} \rangle, \qquad \mathfrak{p}_0 := \langle P_1, P_2 \rangle.$$
(2.3)

Consider now the faithful representation of the CK algebra $\Gamma : \mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3) \to \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ given by

$$\Gamma(J_{12}) = -\kappa_2 E_{12} + E_{21}, \qquad \Gamma(P_1) = -\kappa_1 E_{01} + E_{10}, \qquad \Gamma(P_2) = -\kappa_1 \kappa_2 E_{02} + E_{20}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where E_{ij} denotes the 3 × 3 elementary matrix with a single non-zero entry 1 at row *i* and column j ($0 \le i, j \le 2$). This representation establishes an isomorphism of Lie algebras between the CK algebra $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ and the Lie algebra of real 3 × 3 matrices *M* satisfying

$$M^{T}\mathbb{I}_{\kappa} + \mathbb{I}_{\kappa}M = 0, \qquad \mathbb{I}_{\kappa} := \operatorname{diag}(1, \kappa_{1}, \kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}).$$

$$(2.5)$$

The elements of the representation Γ generated by matrix exponentiation are referred to as the *CK* Lie group $SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$. In particular, the following one-parameter subgroups of the CK Lie group $SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ are obtained from (2.4):

$$\exp(\alpha\Gamma(P_{1})) = \begin{pmatrix} C_{\kappa_{1}}(\alpha) & -\kappa_{1} S_{\kappa_{1}}(\alpha) & 0\\ S_{\kappa_{1}}(\alpha) & C_{\kappa_{1}}(\alpha) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \exp(\gamma\Gamma(J_{12})) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & C_{\kappa_{2}}(\gamma) & -\kappa_{2} S_{\kappa_{2}}(\gamma)\\ 0 & S_{\kappa_{2}}(\gamma) & C_{\kappa_{2}}(\gamma) \end{pmatrix}, \\ \exp(\beta\Gamma(P_{2})) = \begin{pmatrix} C_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(\beta) & 0 & -\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2} S_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(\beta)\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ S_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(\beta) & 0 & C_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(\beta) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

where we have introduced the so-called κ -dependent cosine and sine functions defined by (see [35, 41, 46] for details)

$$C_{\kappa}(u) := \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-\kappa)^{l} \frac{u^{2l}}{(2l)!} = \begin{cases} \cos\sqrt{\kappa} u & \kappa > 0, \\ 1 & \kappa = 0, \\ \cosh\sqrt{-\kappa} u & \kappa < 0. \end{cases}$$

$$S_{\kappa}(u) := \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-\kappa)^{l} \frac{u^{2l+1}}{(2l+1)!} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa}} \sin\sqrt{\kappa} u & \kappa > 0, \\ u & \kappa = 0, \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{-\kappa}} \sinh\sqrt{-\kappa} u & \kappa < 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.7)$$

The above κ -dependent trigonometric functions give rise to the κ -tangent and the κ -versed sine (or versine), which are defined as

$$T_{\kappa}(u) := \frac{S_{\kappa}(u)}{C_{\kappa}(u)}, \qquad V_{\kappa}(u) := \frac{1}{\kappa} (1 - C_{\kappa}(u)).$$
(2.8)

These κ -functions cover the usual circular ($\kappa > 0$) as well as the hyperbolic ($\kappa < 0$) trigonometric functions, while the parabolic or Galilean ones ($\kappa = 0$) are obtained from the contraction $\kappa \to 0$ as

$$C_0(u) = 1,$$
 $S_0(u) = T_0(u) = u,$ $V_0(u) = u^2/2.$ (2.9)

Their main relations, necessary for further computations, are summarized in the Appendix.

Consider now the Lie subgroup $H_0 := SO_{\kappa_2}(2)$ of $SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ associated with the Lie subalgebra $\mathfrak{h}_0 \subset \mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ (2.3). The *CK family of 2D symmetrical homogeneous spaces* is defined by the quotient

$$\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}^2 := \mathrm{SO}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3) / \mathrm{SO}_{\kappa_2}(2).$$
(2.10)

It can be shown that the graded contraction parameter κ_1 becomes the (Gaussian) curvature of the space, while κ_2 determines the signature of the metric through diag $(1, \kappa_2)$.

2.1 Coordinate systems on the Cayley–Klein spaces

The matrix representation (2.6) of $SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ shows that every element $g \in SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ satisfies $g^T \mathbb{I}_{\kappa} g = \mathbb{I}_{\kappa}$, so we can consider the Lie group action of $SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ on \mathbb{R}^3 as isometries of \mathbb{I}_{κ} (2.5). This action is not transitive, as it preserves the quadratic form induced by \mathbb{I}_{κ} . Also, $SO_{\kappa_2}(2) = \langle \exp(\gamma \Gamma(J_{12})) \rangle$ is the isotropy group of the point O := (1, 0, 0), which is thus taken as the *origin* in the space $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$. Nevertheless, the action becomes transitive when we restrict ourselves to the orbit of the point O; namely, the connected component of the submanifold

$$\Sigma_{\kappa} := \left\{ v := (x^0, x^1, x^2) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \mathbb{I}_{\kappa}(v, v) = (x^0)^2 + \kappa_1 (x^1)^2 + \kappa_1 \kappa_2 (x^2)^2 = 1 \right\}$$
(2.11)

containing the origin O, thus allowing us to identify the space $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ (2.10) with the latter orbit. The coordinates (x^0, x^1, x^2) on \mathbb{R}^3 satisfying the constraint (2.11) on Σ_{κ} are called *ambient* or *Weierstrass* coordinates. In terms of these variables, the metric ds^2_{κ} of $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ comes from the flat ambient metric in \mathbb{R}^3 divided by the curvature κ_1 and restricted to Σ_{κ} :

$$ds_{\kappa}^{2} = \frac{1}{\kappa_{1}} ((dx^{0})^{2} + \kappa_{1}(dx^{1})^{2} + \kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}(dx^{2})^{2}) \Big|_{\Sigma_{\kappa}} = \frac{\kappa_{1}(x^{1}dx^{1} + \kappa_{2}x^{2}dx^{2})^{2}}{1 - \kappa_{1}(x^{1})^{2} - \kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}(x^{2})^{2}} + (dx^{1})^{2} + \kappa_{2}(dx^{2})^{2}.$$
(2.12)

Therefore, the Lie group $SO_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ is the isometry group of the space $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ in such a manner that J_{12} is a rotation generator, while P_1 and P_2 are translations moving the origin O along two geodesics l_1 and l_2 orthogonal at O, respectively (see Figure 1). We next introduce three relevant kinds of geodesic coordinate systems of a point $Q := (x^0, x^1, x^2)$ in $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ (2.10): geodesic parallel coordinates of type I (x, y) and type II (x', y'), and geodesic polar coordinates (r, ϕ) . These are defined through the action of the one-parametric groups (2.6) on the origin O as follows [35]:

$$Q = \exp(x\Gamma(P_1))(\exp(y\Gamma(P_2))O) = \exp(y'\Gamma(P_2))\exp(x'\Gamma(P_1))O) = \exp(\phi\Gamma(J_{12}))\exp(r\Gamma(P_1))O,$$



Figure 1: Isometry infinitesimal generators $\{J_{12}, P_1, P_2\}$ and geodesic coordinates (x, y), (x', y') and (r, ϕ) (2.13) of a point $Q = (x^0, x^1, x^2)$ on the 2D CK space $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1], \kappa_2}$ (2.10).

obtaining

$$x^{0} = C_{\kappa_{1}}(x) C_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) = C_{\kappa_{1}}(x') C_{\kappa_{1},\kappa_{2}}(y') = C_{\kappa_{1}}(r),$$

$$x^{1} = S_{\kappa_{1}}(x) C_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) = S_{\kappa_{1}}(x') = S_{\kappa_{1}}(r) C_{\kappa_{2}}(\phi),$$

$$x^{2} = S_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) = C_{\kappa_{1}}(x') S_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y') = S_{\kappa_{1}}(r) S_{\kappa_{2}}(\phi).$$

(2.13)

In these coordinates, the metric (2.12) adopts the form

$$ds_{\kappa}^{2} = C_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}^{2}(y)dx^{2} + \kappa_{2}dy^{2} = dx'^{2} + \kappa_{2}C_{\kappa_{1}}^{2}(x')dy'^{2} = dr^{2} + \kappa_{2}S_{\kappa_{1}}^{2}(r)d\phi^{2}.$$
 (2.14)

As Figure 1 shows, the variable r is the distance between the origin O and the point Q measured along the geodesic l joining both points, while ϕ is the angle formed by the geodesics l and l_1 . Consider the intersection point Q_1 of l_1 with its orthogonal geodesic l'_2 through Q, so x is the geodesic distance between O and Q_1 measured along l_1 and y is the geodesic distance between Q_1 and Q measured along l'_2 . Similarly, if Q_2 is the intersection point of l_2 with its orthogonal geodesic l'_1 , then x' is the geodesic distance between Q and Q_2 measured along l'_1 and y' is the geodesic distance between O and Q_2 measured along l_2 . Note that $(x', y') \neq (x, y)$ if the curvature $\kappa_1 \neq 0$, while on the flat Euclidean plane $\mathbf{E}^2 \equiv \mathbf{S}^2_{[0],+}$ we recover the usual Cartesian coordinates (x, y) = (x', y') and the polar ones (r, ϕ) .

Summing up, depending on the values of the parameters κ_i , the CK family $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ (2.10) comprises *nine* specific 2D symmetrical homogeneous spaces, which are classified intro three types according to the value of the signature parameter κ_2 [35], which are displayed by rows in Figure 2:

- Riemannian spaces for $\kappa_2 > 0$. In this case the isotropy subgroup $SO_{\kappa_2}(2) \equiv SO(2)$ and we find: the sphere S^2 ($\kappa_1 > 0$); the Euclidean plane E^2 ($\kappa_1 = 0$) with $x^0 = +1$; and the hyperbolic space H^2 ($\kappa_1 < 0$) as the part with $x^0 \ge 1$ of a two-sheeted hyperboloid.
- Pseudo-Riemannian spaces or Lorentzian spacetimes for κ₂ < 0. Now SO_{κ2}(2) ≡ SO(1,1) is the Lorentz subgroup and these spaces admit a kinematical intertepretation as (1 + 1)D spacetimes. Thus we obtain: the co-hyperbolic or anti-de Sitter space AdS¹⁺¹ (κ₁ > 0); the Minkowskian plane M¹⁺¹ (κ₁ = 0); and the doubly-hyperbolic or de Sitter space dS¹⁺¹ (κ₁ < 0). In all these cases, the generators J₁₂, P₁ and P₂ of so_{κ1,κ2}(3) correspond to the infinitesimal



Figure 2: The nine 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^{2}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}$ (2.10) in Weierstrass coordinates (x^{0}, x^{1}, x^{2}) (2.11) together with their correspondent 2D CK motion group $SO_{\kappa_{1},\kappa_{2}}(3)$ according to the 'normalized' values of the contraction parameters $\kappa_{i} \in \{-1, 0, 1\}$.

generators of boosts, time translations and spatial translations, respectively. Moreover, from a physical viewpoint the κ_i parameters are related to the cosmological constant Λ and the speed of light c through

$$\kappa_1 = -\Lambda, \qquad \kappa_2 = -1/c^2. \tag{2.15}$$

The geodesic parallel coordinates of type I (x, y) are just the time t and spatial y ones.

• Semi-Riemannian spaces or Newtonian spacetimes for $\kappa_2 = 0$. Here $SO_{\kappa_2}(2) \equiv ISO(1) \equiv \mathbb{R}$ and the three spaces can be interpreted as non-relativistic spacetimes with $c = \infty$ (2.15). These are: the co-Euclidean or oscillating Newton-Hooke (NH) space \mathbf{NH}_{+}^{1+1} ($\kappa_1 > 0$); the Galilean plane \mathbf{G}^{1+1} ($\kappa_1 = 0$); and the co-Minkowskian or expanding NH space \mathbf{NH}_{-}^{1+1} ($\kappa_1 < 0$). The metric (2.14) is degenerate and its kernel gives rise to an integrable foliation of $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_1],0}^2$ which is invariant under the action of the CK group $SO_{\kappa_1,0}(3)$. A subsidiary metric $ds_{\kappa}^{\prime 2}$ appears being well-defined when restricted to each leaf of the foliation. In geodesic parallel coordinates of type I (x, y) the metrics read

$$\mathrm{d}s_{\kappa}^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2, \qquad \mathrm{d}s_{\kappa}'^2 = \mathrm{d}y^2 \quad \text{on} \quad x = \text{constant.}$$
 (2.16)

The main metric ds_{κ}^2 provides 'absolute-time' t, the leaves of the invariant foliation are the 'absolute-space' at $t = t_0$ and $ds_{\kappa}'^2$ is the subsidiary spatial metric defined on each leaf.



Figure 3: The three 1D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^2$ in Weierstrass coordinates (x^0, x^1) (2.18) together with their corresponding 1D CK motion group $SO_{\kappa}(2)$ according to the 'normalized' values of the contraction parameter $\kappa \in \{-1, 0, 1\}$.

Consider now the projection

$$\mathbb{R}^3 \ni (x^0, x^1, x^2) \mapsto (x^0, x^1) \in \mathbb{R}^2,$$
(2.17)

so the image of the submanifold Σ_{κ} (2.11) under this mapping is

$$\Sigma_{\kappa} := \left\{ (x^0, x^1) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : (x^0)^2 + \kappa (x^1)^2 = 1 \right\},$$
(2.18)

where we have set $\kappa := \kappa_1$. The image of the origin O of $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ under the projection is the point (1,0), so we call 1D CK space $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$ the connected component of Σ_{κ} containing the point (1,0). For $\kappa > 0$ we obtain the 1D sphere \mathbf{S}^1 , while the case $\kappa < 0$ gives rise to the hyperbolic line \mathbf{H}^1 , which is the branch of the hyperbola $(x^0)^2 - (x^1)^2 = 1$ with $x^0 \ge 1$. The Euclidean line \mathbf{E}^1 , identified with the line $x^0 = 1$ in \mathbb{R}^2 , appears after the contraction $\kappa = 0$ as depicted in Figure 3.

Analogously to the 2D case, the coordinates (x^0, x^1) on \mathbb{R}^2 satisfying the constraint (2.18) are called *ambient* or *Weierstrass* coordinates. The single coordinate system (x) on $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$ is given by

$$x^{0} = C_{\kappa}(x), \qquad x^{1} = S_{\kappa}(x),$$
 (2.19)

and it can be obtained from the coordinates (2.13) of $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ by setting y = 0, $\kappa_1 \equiv \kappa$ and $\kappa_2 \equiv 0$. Thus, the 1D CK space $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$ is canonically identified with the submanifold y = 0 of the 2D CK space $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa],0}$. Consequently, the (Riemannian) metric ds^2_{κ} of $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$ reads from (2.14) as

$$\mathrm{d}s_{\kappa}^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2. \tag{2.20}$$

Note that in these spaces the parameter κ cannot be interpreted as the Gaussian curvature, as the three 1D spaces are flat. Nevertheless, there are some differences better described after the value of κ . The associated 1D CK groups SO_{κ}(2) are given by

$$SO_{\kappa}(2) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} C_{\kappa}(\alpha) & -\kappa S_{\kappa}(\alpha) \\ S_{\kappa}(\alpha) & C_{\kappa}(\alpha) \end{pmatrix} : \alpha \in \mathbb{R} \right\},\$$

which correspond to the projection (2.17) to \mathbb{R}^2 of the one-parameter subgroup (2.6) of $\mathrm{SO}_{\kappa,0}(3)$ generated by P_1 . If $\mathbb{I}_{\kappa} := \mathrm{diag}(1,\kappa)$ denotes the quadratic form inducing the submanifold Σ_{κ} (2.18), then every element $g \in \mathrm{SO}_{\kappa}(2)$ satisfies $g^T \mathbb{I}_{\kappa} g = \mathbb{I}_{\kappa}$, showing that $\mathrm{SO}_{\kappa}(2)$ is a group of isometries of the 1D CK space $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$. After the values $\kappa = +1, \kappa = 0$ and $\kappa = -1$ we recover from $\mathrm{SO}_{\kappa}(2)$ the well-known groups of isometries $\mathrm{SO}(2)$, $\mathrm{ISO}(1) \equiv \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathrm{SO}(1,1)$ of \mathbf{S}^1 , \mathbf{E}^1 and \mathbf{H}^1 , respectively.

2.2 Conformal Cayley–Klein algebras

Infinitesimal conformal symmetries of the nine 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ were obtained in [35] by looking for one-parameter subgroups of cycle-preserving transformations (cycles are lines with constant geodesic curvature), while their corresponding conformal Lie groups and compactification were constructed in [36]. This global approach requires to consider the three sets of geodesic coordinates (2.13) and then to express all the conformal Lie generators in a common set. The resulting conformal symmetries span a 6D real Lie algebra $\operatorname{conf}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}$, known as the *conformal algebra* of $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$. Let us summarize the main results necessary for this work.

We consider the basis $\{P_i, J_{12}, G_i, D: 1 \le i \le 2\}$ corresponding to the generators of translations along the basic geodesic l_i , rotations around the origin (see Figure 1), specific conformal transformations related to the geodesic l_i and dilations, respectively. The commutation relations of $conf_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}$ over such a basis are given by

$$\begin{aligned} & [J_{12}, P_1] = P_2, & [J_{12}, P_2] = -\kappa_2 P_1, & [P_1, P_2] = \kappa_1 J_{12}, \\ & [J_{12}, G_1] = G_2, & [J, G_2] = -\kappa_2 G_1, & [G_1, G_2] = 0, \\ & [D, P_i] = P_i + \kappa_1 G_i, & [D, G_i] = -G_i, & [D, J_{12}] = 0, \\ & [P_1, G_1] = D, & [P_2, G_2] = \kappa_2 D, \\ & [P_1, G_2] = -J_{12}, & [P_2, G_1] = J_{12}. \end{aligned}$$

Recall that for the six kinematical cases with $\kappa_2 \leq 0$ (see Figure 2), P_1 is the time-like translation generator, P_2 is the space-like one and J_{12} is just the boost. Hence, G_1 and G_2 can be regarded as time- and space-like specific conformal transformations.

As some relevant Lie subalgebras of $\operatorname{conf}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}$, observe that: (i) the isometries $\{P_1, P_2, J_{12}\}$ span the CK algebra $\mathfrak{so}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}(3)$ (2.2) as expected; (ii) the set $\{P_1, P_2, J_{12}, D\}$ (isometries plus dilations) only closes on a subalgebra in the flat spaces with $\kappa_1 = 0$, the so-called Weyl subalgebra; (iii) the set $\{G_1, G_2, J_{12}\}$ spans a subalgebra isomorphic to the inhomogenous $\mathfrak{so}_{0,\kappa_2}(3) \simeq \mathfrak{iso}_{\kappa_2}(2)$; (iv) $\{P_1, G_1, D\}$ provides a subalgebra isomorphic to $\mathfrak{so}(2, 1)$; and (v) $\{P_2, G_2, D\}$ again leads to a subalgebra isomorphic to $\mathfrak{so}(2, 1)$ whenever $\kappa_2 \neq 0$, but to Poincaré $\mathfrak{iso}(1, 1)$ for $\kappa_2 = 0$.

The conformal CK algebra $conf_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}$ (2.21) covers nine specific conformal Lie algebras which are isomorphic to three cases according to the value of the signature parameter κ_2 (regardless of the curvature value κ_1):

- $\mathfrak{so}(3,1)$, isomorphic to the 3D hyperbolic algebra or to the (2+1)D de Sitter algebra, for the three 2D Riemannian spaces with $\kappa_2 > 0$.
- $i\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$, isomorphic to the (2+1)D Poincaré algebra, for the three (1+1)D non-relativistic or Newtonian spacetimes with $\kappa_2 = 0$.
- $\mathfrak{so}(2,2)$, isomorphic to the (2+1)D anti-de Sitter algebra, for the three (2+1)D relativistic or Lorentzian spacetimes with $\kappa_2 < 0$.

A differential realization of $conf_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}$ (2.21) can be derived in any of the three sets of geodesic coordinates (2.13). Hereafter we will consider geodesic parallel coordinates of type I (x, y) that

give rise to the following vector fields [35]

$$\mathbf{P}_{1} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{P}_{2} = -\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2} \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \,\mathbf{T}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \\
\mathbf{J}_{12} = \kappa_{2} \,\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \,\mathbf{T}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \\
\mathbf{G}_{1} = \frac{1}{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y)} \left(\mathbf{V}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) - \kappa_{2} \mathbf{V}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \\
\mathbf{G}_{2} = \kappa_{2} \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \,\mathbf{T}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \left(\mathbf{V}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) - \kappa_{2} \mathbf{V}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \\
\mathbf{D} = -\frac{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}}(x)}{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y},$$
(2.22)

which are always well-defined for any value of κ_1 and κ_2 . The relations (2.13) allow one to express these vector fields in the remaining two sets of geodesic coordinates.

It is worth observing that in the six kinematical spaces with $\kappa_2 \leq 0$, the expressions (2.22) will be well adapted to construct 'time-like' curved LH systems, since the time translation generator is simply $\mathbf{P}_1 = -\partial_x$, which is our aim here. Nevertheless, it would also be possible to deduce 'spacelike' curved LH systems, but for this it would be necessary to choose geodesic parallel coordinates of type II (x', y') such that the spatial translation generator becomes $\mathbf{P}_2 = -\partial_{y'}$. Note that the dilation vector field takes the simplest form in geodesic polar coordinates: $\mathbf{D} = -S_{\kappa_1}(r)\partial_r$.

In addition, it can be easily shown that the vector fields (2.22) satisfy the conformal Killing equations for the CK metric g_1 (2.14), that is, the Lie derivative must be $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{X}}g_1 = \mu_{\mathbf{X}}g_1$ where $\mu_{\mathbf{X}}$ is the conformal factor of the vector field \mathbf{X} . Explicitly, the conformal factors in the geodesic (x, y) and ambient (x^0, x^1, x^2) coordinates are found to be

$$\mu_{\mathbf{P}_{1}} = \mu_{\mathbf{P}_{2}} = \mu_{\mathbf{J}_{12}} = 0, \qquad \mu_{\mathbf{D}} = -2 \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \equiv -2x^{0}, \mu_{\mathbf{G}_{1}} = 2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_{1}}(x) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \equiv 2x^{1}, \qquad \mu_{\mathbf{G}_{2}} = 2\kappa_{2} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_{1}\kappa_{2}}(y) \equiv 2\kappa_{2}x^{2}.$$
(2.23)

In order to illustrate the 'intrinsic' contraction-scheme of the CK approach, let us write the resulting flat contraction $\kappa_1 = 0$ of the above vector fields. By taking into account (2.9) we directly obtain that the conformal vector fields (2.22) for the three spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[0],\kappa_2}$ are

$$\mathbf{P}_{1} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{P}_{2} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{J}_{12} = \kappa_{2} y \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - x \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{D} = -x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - y \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad (2.24)$$
$$\mathbf{G}_{1} = \frac{1}{2} (x^{2} - \kappa_{2} y^{2}) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + xy \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{G}_{2} = \kappa_{2} xy \frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \frac{1}{2} (x^{2} - \kappa_{2} y^{2}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y},$$

corresponding to the Euclidean $\mathbf{E}^2 \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],+}^2$, Galilean $\mathbf{G}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],0}^2$ and Minkowskian $\mathbf{M}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],-}^2$ spaces. The conformal factors (2.23) reduce to $\mu_{\mathbf{D}} = -2$, $\mu_{\mathbf{G}_1} = 2x$ and $\mu_{\mathbf{G}_2} = 2\kappa_2 y$.

As a byproduct of the above results, we remark that the conformal algebra $\operatorname{conf}_{\kappa}$ of the 1D CK space $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ (2.19) (see Figure 3) can be obtained in straightforward manner from $\operatorname{conf}_{\kappa_1,\kappa_2}$ by the restriction of its vector fields (2.22) to the submanifold y = 0 of $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa],0}^2$, such that $\kappa \equiv \kappa_1$ and $\kappa_2 = 0$. Therefore, $\operatorname{conf}_{\kappa}$ turns out to be a 3D Lie algebra spanned by the vector fields $\{\mathbf{P}_1, \mathbf{G}_1, \mathbf{D}\}$ given by

$$\mathbf{P}_1 = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{G}_1 = \mathbf{V}_\kappa(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{D} = -\mathbf{S}_\kappa(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad (2.25)$$

whose geometrical meaning is preserved, since they are still a translation, a specific conformal transformation and a dilation on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$, respectively. When $\kappa = 0$, they reduce to

$$\mathbf{P}_1 = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{G}_1 = \frac{1}{2}x^2\frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{D} = -x\frac{\partial}{\partial x}.$$
 (2.26)

Finally, the Lie brackets for (2.25) are

$$[\mathbf{D}, \mathbf{P}_1] = \mathbf{P}_1 + \kappa \mathbf{G}_1, \qquad [\mathbf{D}, \mathbf{G}_1] = -\mathbf{G}_1, \qquad [\mathbf{P}_1, \mathbf{G}_1] = \mathbf{D},$$
 (2.27)

so $\mathfrak{conf}_{\kappa} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1) \simeq \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ regardless of the value of κ , as expected.

3 The class I_4 of Lie–Hamilton systems on curved spaces

We now have all the geometrical ingredients to construct new LH systems on 2D spaces from their conformal symmetries. Let us start with the class I_4 of LH systems on the Euclidean plane \mathbf{E}^2 spanned by the vector fields given in Table 1, that is,

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_2 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = x^2\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y^2\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \tag{3.1}$$

which obey the commutation relations (1.4) of $\mathfrak{so}(2,1) \simeq \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$. According to the previous section, it emerges that such vector fields are just the sum of two conformal realizations (2.26) on the Euclidean line $\mathbf{E}^1 \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0]}^1$ and, therefore, defined on $\mathbf{E}^1 \times \mathbf{E}^1$ with coordinates (x, y). If we restrict ourselves to the first coordinate x, we find that the relationships between \mathbf{X}_i (3.1) and the Euclidean conformal vector fields (2.26) read: $\mathbf{X}_1 = -\mathbf{P}_1$, $\mathbf{X}_2 = -\mathbf{D}$ and $\mathbf{X}_3 = 2\mathbf{G}_1$.

Consequently, a natural generalization of the Euclidean class I_4 (3.1) to curved spaces is provided by the sum of two realizations of $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ on the 1D CK space $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$, obtained by replacing the conformal symmetries (2.26) of $\mathbf{E}^1 \equiv \mathbf{S}^1_{[0]}$ by their curved counterparts (2.25) of $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$. This yields the following vector fields on $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$:

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} = \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(y)\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} = 2\mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + 2\mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(y)\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad (3.2)$$

and their commutation relations are given by (see (2.27))

$$[\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1},\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}] = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} - \frac{1}{2}\kappa \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1},\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}] = 2\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2},\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}] = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}.$$
(3.3)

The *t*-dependent vector field

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa} := b_1(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} + b_2(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} + b_3(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where $b_i(t)$ $(1 \le i \le 3)$ are arbitrary *t*-dependent functions, is associated with the first-order system of ODEs on $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$ given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)\,\mathbf{S}_\kappa(x) + 2b_3(t)\mathbf{V}_\kappa(x), \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)\,\mathbf{S}_\kappa(y) + 2b_3(t)\mathbf{V}_\kappa(y). \tag{3.5}$$

Notice that the contraction $\kappa = 0$ leads to the system

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)x + b_3(t)x^2, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)y + b_3(t)y^2, \tag{3.6}$$

known as coupled Riccati equations, considered in [21], and which is a particular case of the systems of Riccati equations studied in [9]. Thus we call the system (3.5), the *curved coupled Riccati equations*.

From (3.3) we see that \mathbf{X}_{κ} is a Lie system with VG Lie algebra $V^{X_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2, 1)$ spanned by the vector fields (3.2). Furthermore, they are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{4\operatorname{S}^{2}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y, \tag{3.7}$$

so fulfilling (1.6), and their associated Hamiltonian functions, determined by the condition (1.7), turn out to be

$$h_{\kappa,1} = \frac{1}{2 \operatorname{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = \frac{\operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x+y))}{2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = \frac{2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y)}{\operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))}. \tag{3.8}$$

With respect to the Poisson bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$ induced by the symplectic structure (3.7), the brackets of the Hamiltonian functions (3.8) are

$$\{h_{\kappa,1}, h_{\kappa,2}\}_{\omega_{\kappa}} = -h_{\kappa,1} + \frac{1}{2}\kappa h_{\kappa,3}, \qquad \{h_{\kappa,1}, h_{\kappa,3}\}_{\omega_{\kappa}} = -2h_{\kappa,2}, \qquad \{h_{\kappa,2}, h_{\kappa,3}\}_{\omega_{\kappa}} = -h_{\kappa,3}, \quad (3.9)$$

showing that \mathbf{X}_{κ} is a LH system on $\mathbf{S}^{1}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^{1}_{[\kappa]}$ with LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ spanned by the Hamiltonian functions (3.8).

Observe that the product manifold $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ is naturally endowed with the product Riemannian metric $dx^2 + dy^2$, (which is the product metric (2.20)) showing that the 2D space $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ is flat. In particular, for $\kappa > 0$ we obtain the flat 2-torus $\mathbf{T}^2 = \mathbf{S}^1 \times \mathbf{S}^1$, while the case $\kappa < 0$ gives rise to the product of two hyperbolic lines $\mathbf{H}^1 \times \mathbf{H}^1$. The Euclidean plane \mathbf{E}^2 , corresponding to $\kappa = 0$, is the only 2D CK space which is a product of 1D CK spaces.

Hence, we have obtained a LH class on the space $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ which generalizes the Euclidean class I₄ to $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$, as the vector fields, symplectic form and Hamiltonian functions of the Euclidean I₄-LH class, shown in Table 1, are recovered after the contraction $\kappa = 0$ from (3.2), (3.7) and (3.8), respectively. We call such a LH class on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ the curved I₄-LH class, which is explicitly described in Table 2 for each of the three spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$. Note that the domain of the coordinates (x, y) requires the condition $x \neq y$ in the three spaces, ensuring a well-defined symplectic form and Hamiltonian functions.

It is also worth emphasizing that the contraction parameter κ can alternatively be interpreted as a perturbation parameter of the Euclidean class I₄. In particular, if κ is considered to have a small value, we can take a power series expansion in κ of the system (3.5). For instance, by truncating at the first-order in κ , we obtain the following approximation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)x + b_3(t)x^2 - \frac{1}{12}\kappa\left(2b_2(t)x^3 + b_3(t)x^4\right) + o[\kappa^2],\tag{3.10}$$

(and similarly for the second equation in y) which can be interpreted as a fourth-order perturbation of the Riccati equation (3.6). In this sense, the introduction of κ can be regarded as the opposite process to the contraction procedure, i.e. a classical deformation. This idea is quite similar to Poisson–Hopf deformations of LH systems, for which the quantum deformation parameter can always be thought of as a perturbation (see, e.g., [47, eq. (4.19)] for an example).

Table 2: The curved I₄-LH class on the three flat spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ according to the 'normalized' values $\kappa \in \{-1, 0, 1\}$. For each space it is shown, in coordinates (x, y), its Riemannian metric, domain of the variables, VG Lie algebra $V^{X_{\kappa}}$ (3.3) with vector fields $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,i}$ (3.2), LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$ (3.9) with Hamiltonian functions $h_{\kappa,i}$ (3.8) and symplectic form ω_{κ} (3.7). For the sake of clarity, we drop the index κ .

• Flat 2-torus $\mathbf{T}^2 = \mathbf{S}^1 \times \mathbf{S}^1$	• Euclidean plane \mathbf{E}^2	\bullet Product of hyperbolic lines $\mathbf{H}^1\times\mathbf{H}^1$
$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}y^2$	$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}y^2$	$\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}y^2$
$x\in(-\pi,\pi],\ y\in(-\pi,\pi],\ x\neq y$	$x\in\mathbb{R},\ y\in\mathbb{R},\ x\neq y$	$x\in\mathbb{R},\ y\in\mathbb{R},\ x\neq y$
$V^X\simeq\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$	$V^X\simeq\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$	$V^X \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$
$\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x + \partial_y$	$\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x + \partial_y$	$\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x + \partial_y$
$\mathbf{X}_2 = \sin x \partial_x + \sin y \partial_y$	$\mathbf{X}_2 = x\partial_x + y\partial_y$	$\mathbf{X}_2 = \sinh x \partial_x + \sinh y \partial_y$
$\mathbf{X}_3 = 2\big((1 - \cos x)\partial_x + (1 - \cos y)\partial_y\big)$	$\mathbf{X}_3 = x^2 \partial_x + y^2 \partial_y$	$\mathbf{X}_3 = 2\big((\cosh x - 1)\partial_x + (\cosh y - 1)\partial_y\big)$
$\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$	$\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$	$\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$
$h_1 = \frac{1}{2\tan(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))}$	$h_1 = \frac{1}{x - y}$	$h_1 = \frac{1}{2\tanh\left(\frac{1}{2}(x-y)\right)}$
$h_2 = \frac{\sin(\frac{1}{2}(x+y))}{2\sin(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))}$	$h_2 = \frac{x+y}{2(x-y)}$	$h_2 = \frac{\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}(x+y)\right)}{2\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}(x-y)\right)}$
$h_3 = \frac{2\sin\left(\frac{1}{2}x\right)\sin\left(\frac{1}{2}y\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{1}{2}(x-y)\right)}$	$h_3 = \frac{xy}{x - y}$	$h_3 = \frac{2\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}x\right)\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}y\right)}{\sinh\left(\frac{1}{2}(x-y)\right)}$
$\omega = \frac{1}{4\sin^2(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))} \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$	$\omega = \frac{1}{(x-y)^2} \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$	$\omega = \frac{1}{4\sinh^2(\frac{1}{2}(x-y))} \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$

3.1 Constants of the motion of the curved I_4 -class

We now proceed to compute *t*-independent constants of motion of the LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} (3.4) by applying the so-called coalgebra formalism [9, 47]. Let us consider the LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$ of the LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} expressed in a basis $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ that formally satisfies the same Poisson brackets shown in (3.9):

$$\{v_1, v_2\} = -v_1 + \frac{1}{2}\kappa v_3, \qquad \{v_1, v_3\} = -2v_2, \qquad \{v_2, v_3\} = -v_3$$

There exists a non-trivial quadratic Casimir element given by

$$C = v_1 v_3 - v_2^2 - \frac{1}{4} \kappa v_3^2, \qquad \{C, \cdot\} = 0.$$
(3.11)

As a shorthand notation, let us denote by $\mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}$ the submanifold of $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ with $x \neq y$. From (3.8) we construct the following Hamiltonian functions $(1 \leq i \leq 3)$:

$$h_{\kappa,i}^{(1)} = h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_1) \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}),$$

$$h_{\kappa,i}^{(2)} = h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_1) + h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_2) \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}),$$

$$h_{\kappa,i}^{(3)} = h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_1) + h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_2) + h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_3) \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}),$$

(3.12)

where $\mathbf{x}_s = (x_s, y_s)$ denotes the coordinates in the s^{th} -copy of $\mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}$ within the product manifold. Note that each set of functions of (3.12) so obtained satisfies the Poisson brackets (3.9) with respect to the Poisson bracket induced by taking the product symplectic structure $\omega_{\kappa}^{[3]}$ of (3.7) to $\mathcal{M}^3_{[\kappa]} \equiv \mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}$, that is,

$$\omega_{\kappa}^{[3]} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{s=1}^{3} \frac{1}{\mathrm{S}_{\kappa}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} (x_{s} - y_{s})\right)} \, \mathrm{d}x_{s} \wedge \mathrm{d}y_{s}.$$

Now, using the Casimir (3.11) we obtain the following constants of motion for the diagonal prolongation $\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^3_{\kappa}$ of \mathbf{X}_{κ} (3.4) to $\mathcal{M}^3_{[\kappa]}$:

$$F_{\kappa}^{(1)} = C\left(h_{\kappa,1}^{(1)}, h_{\kappa,2}^{(1)}, h_{\kappa,3}^{(1)}\right) = -\frac{1}{4},$$

$$F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = C\left(h_{\kappa,1}^{(2)}, h_{\kappa,2}^{(2)}, h_{\kappa,3}^{(2)}\right) = -\frac{S_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x_2 - y_1))S_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x_1 - y_2))}{S_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x_1 - y_1))S_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}(x_2 - y_2))}.$$
(3.13)

Observe that $F_{\kappa}^{(1)} < 0$ for any value of κ , so this corresponds to $\mathcal{C} < 0$ (1.11), with c = -1 as shown in Table 1 for the Euclidean class I₄. This fact will distinguish a specific LH system belonging to the *curved* I₄-LH class from other within the *curved* P₂-LH class, with $\mathcal{C} > 0$, that we will develop in Section 5.

Note also that the well-known constant of motion of the Euclidean class I₄ [6, 8, 9, 48] is recovered under the contraction $\kappa = 0$:

$$F_0^{(2)} = -\frac{(x_2 - y_1)(x_1 - y_2)}{(x_1 - y_1)(x_2 - y_2)},$$
(3.14)

corresponding to the set of coupled Riccati equations (3.6).

Moreover, $F_{\kappa}^{(2)}$ gives rise to two additional constants of motion through the permutation S_{ij} of the variables $(x_i, y_i) \leftrightarrow (x_j, y_j)$; these are

$$F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)} = S_{13} \left(F_{\kappa}^{(2)} \right) = -\frac{S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_2 - y_3)) S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_3 - y_2))}{S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_3 - y_3)) S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_2 - y_2))},$$

$$F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)} = S_{23} \left(F_{\kappa}^{(2)} \right) = -\frac{S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_3 - y_1)) S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_1 - y_3))}{S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_1 - y_1)) S_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}(x_3 - y_3))}.$$
(3.15)

The functions $h_{\kappa,i}^{(3)}$ (3.12) also allow to obtain another constant of motion which can be expressed in terms of (3.13) and (3.15) as

$$F_{\kappa}^{(3)} = C\left(h_{\kappa,1}^{(3)}, h_{\kappa,2}^{(3)}, h_{\kappa,3}^{(3)}\right) = F_{\kappa}^{(2)} + F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)} + F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)} + \frac{3}{4}$$

3.2 Superposition rules for the curved I_4 -class

So far we have obtained four *t*-independent constants of motion $\{F_{\kappa}^{(2)}, F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)}, F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)}, F_{\kappa}^{(3)}\}$ for the curved I₄-LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} (3.4). To derive a superposition rule in this case, it is necessary to choose two functionally independent constants of motion, say I_1 , I_2 , for the diagonal prolongation $\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\kappa}^3$ of \mathbf{X}_{κ} to $\mathcal{M}_{[\kappa]}^3$, so verifying the condition

$$\frac{\partial(I_1, I_2)}{\partial(x_1, y_1)} \neq 0. \tag{3.16}$$

This ensures that it is possible to express the general solution $(x_1(t), y_1(t))$ of the LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} in terms of two particular solutions $(x_2(t), y_2(t))$ and $(x_3(t), y_3(t))$ and two significative constants, say μ_1 and μ_2 , by solving the equations $I_1 = \mu_1$ and $I_2 = \mu_2$ (see [6, 8] for details).

There are several possible options for the constants I_1 and I_2 . We take $F_{\kappa}^{(2)}$ and $F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)}$ and then use $F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)}$ in order to simplify the final result, thus we set

$$F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = -\mu_1, \qquad F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)} = -\mu_2, \qquad F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)} = -\mu_3.$$
 (3.17)

For the computations, we rewrite the expression for $F_{\kappa}^{(2)}$ (3.13) (see the Appendix) as

$$F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = -\left(\frac{\mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{1})}{\mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{1}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{1})}\right)\left(\frac{\mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{1}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2})}{\mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2})}\right),\tag{3.18}$$

and similarly for $F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)}$ and $F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)}$ (3.15). Starting from the first equation in (3.17) we find that

$$T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{1}) = \frac{\mu_{1}\left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2})\right)T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{1}) - \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{1})\right)T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2})}{\mu_{1}\left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2})\right) - \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{1})\right)}.$$
(3.19)

Substituting this result into the second equation in (3.17) and also introducing the third constant μ_3 we arrive at the full superposition principle for y_1 , namely

$$T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{1}^{\pm}) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) + T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) \right) \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \mu_{1} \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) \right) \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) + T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right) \right. \\ \left. - \mu_{2} \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right) \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) + T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) \right) \pm \sqrt{\Xi} \right\} \\ \left. \times \left\{ \mu_{1} \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) \right) - \mu_{2} \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right) + \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right) \right\}^{-1} \right\}$$

$$(3.20)$$

(so with two solutions according to the sign of the square root), where

$$\begin{split} \Xi &= \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) \right)^{2} \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right)^{2} \\ &+ \left(\mu_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2} - 2\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3} \right) \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) \right)^{2} \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right)^{2} \\ &- 2(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2} - \mu_{1}\mu_{2}) \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) \right) \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right) \\ &\times \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}x_{3}) \right) \left(\mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{2}) - \mathrm{T}_{\kappa} (\frac{1}{2}y_{3}) \right). \end{split}$$

Note that the result (3.20) is well-defined whenever the function Ξ is non-negative, which requires some restrictions on the parameters μ_i determined by the specific particular solutions under consideration. Hereafter, this fact will be assumed when a square root appears in a superposition rule (as in Subsection 5.2). Finally, inserting the above expressions into (3.19), we obtain the complete superposition rule for the curved I₄-LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} (3.4) as the general solution $(x_1^{\pm}(t), y_1^{\pm}(t))$ with the following dependence

$$x_1^{\pm}(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3), \qquad y_1^{\pm}(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3), \qquad \Xi(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3),$$

such that $\mu_3 = \mu_3(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3)$ through $F_{\kappa, 13}^{(2)} = S_{13}(F_{\kappa}^{(2)}) = -\mu_3$ (3.18).

The superposition rule for the curved I₄-LH class is rather simplified for the system with $\kappa = 0$, yielding

$$y_{1}^{\pm} = \frac{(x_{2} + x_{3})(y_{2} - y_{3}) + \mu_{1}(x_{2} - y_{2})(x_{3} + y_{3}) - \mu_{2}(x_{3} - y_{3})(x_{2} + y_{2}) \pm \sqrt{\Xi}}{2(\mu_{1}(x_{2} - y_{2}) - \mu_{2}(x_{3} - y_{3}) + (y_{2} - y_{3}))},$$

$$\Xi = (x_{2} - x_{3})^{2}(y_{2} - y_{3})^{2} + (\mu_{1}^{2} + \mu_{2}^{2} - 2\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3})(x_{2} - y_{2})^{2}(x_{3} - y_{3})^{2} - 2(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2} - \mu_{1}\mu_{2})(x_{2} - y_{2})(x_{3} - y_{3})(x_{2} - x_{3})(y_{2} - y_{3}),$$

(3.21)

$$x_1^{\pm} = \frac{\mu_1(x_2 - y_2)y_1^{\pm} - (x_2 - y_1^{\pm})y_2}{\mu_1(x_2 - y_2) - (x_2 - y_1^{\pm})},$$

where $\mu_3 = \mu_3(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3)$ now via $F_{0,13}^{(2)} = S_{13}(F_0^{(2)}) = -\mu_3$ (3.14).

It is worth observing that, to the best of our knowledge, not only the curved LH systems constructed throughout this section together with their constants of the motion and superposition principles constitute new results, but also the superposition rule (3.21) for the Euclidean coupled Riccati equations (3.6), thus completing previous works (see [9] and references therein).

Furthermore, recall that a single Riccati equation, take only the first one in (3.6) with variable x, is a Lie system with VG Lie algebra isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$, but it is not a LH system. This system appears in the classification of Lie systems on the plane [7] as the class I₃ for which there does not exist an associated symplectic form, so that the application of the coalgebra formalism to obtain constants of motion and superposition principles is precluded. Nevertheless, the well-known superposition rule for the Riccati equation [6, 48] can easily be derived from the last equation in (3.21). Let us denote by \mathbf{X}^{Ric} the *t*-dependent vector field for the Riccati equation spanned by the projection y = 0 of the conformal vector fields (3.1) with variable $\tilde{x} \in \mathbb{R}$. Under the following identification

$$x_1 \equiv \tilde{x}, \qquad y_1 \equiv \tilde{x}_3, \qquad x_2 \equiv \tilde{x}_2, \qquad y_2 \equiv \tilde{x}_1,$$

$$(3.22)$$

we retrieve from (3.21) the general solution of the Riccati equation $\tilde{x}(t)$ expressed in terms of three particular solutions $(\tilde{x}_1(t), \tilde{x}_2(t), \tilde{x}_3(t))$ and a single constant μ_1 as

$$\tilde{x} = \frac{\mu_1(\tilde{x}_2 - \tilde{x}_1)\tilde{x}_3 + (\tilde{x}_3 - \tilde{x}_2)\tilde{x}_1}{\mu_1(\tilde{x}_2 - \tilde{x}_1) + (\tilde{x}_3 - \tilde{x}_2)}.$$
(3.23)

This result is, in fact, provided by $F_{0}^{(2)} = -\mu_1$ (3.14) which is now understood as a constant of motion for the diagonal prolongation $\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^{\text{Ric}}$ of \mathbf{X}^{Ric} to \mathbb{R}^4 .

Likewise, we will call the first equation of (3.5) the curved Riccati equation, with variable $x \in \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$, whose corresponding t-dependent vector field $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa}^{\text{Ric}}$ is spanned by the projection y = 0 of (3.2) (see (2.25)). This is again a Lie system but not a LH one, since no symplectic form on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ exists. However, a superposition rule for $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa}^{\text{Ric}}$ is provided by (3.19) under the identification (3.22), determining the general solution $\tilde{x}(t)$:

$$T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}) = \frac{\mu_{1}\left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{1})\right)T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{3}) + \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{3}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{2})\right)T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{1})}{\mu_{1}\left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{2}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{1})\right) + \left(T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{3}) - T_{\kappa}(\frac{1}{2}\tilde{x}_{2})\right)},$$

which is reduced to (3.23) for the contraction $\kappa = 0$. In this curved case, $F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = -\mu_1$ (3.18) is a constant of the motion for the diagonal prolongation $\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}_{\kappa}^{\text{Ric}}$ of $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa}^{\text{Ric}}$ to $(\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1)^4$.

4 Applications of the curved I_4 -class

The Euclidean I₄-LH class is known to include the following relevant systems [8]: the coupled Riccati equations, the split-complex Riccati equation, a planar diffusion Riccati system, and the Kummer–Schwarz and Ermakov equations for c < 0 (1.11). The curved counterpart of the coupled Riccati equations has already been studied, since they appear directly from the conformal vector fields (3.2). Consequently, by making use of the curved I₄-LH class presented previously, we generalize in this section the remaining particular LH systems to the 2D spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$. In this way, the known Euclidean LH systems are extended to the flat 2-torus $\mathbf{T}^2 = \mathbf{S}^1 \times \mathbf{S}^1$ ($\kappa > 0$) and the product of two hyperbolic lines $\mathbf{H}^1 \times \mathbf{H}^1$ ($\kappa < 0$).

The procedure requires to obtain an appropriate local diffeomorphism between the specific LH system on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ under consideration and the curved I₄-LH class of Section 3. Recall that, as local diffeomorphisms between open subsets of $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ are induced from local diffeomorphisms between open subsets of the domain of the parametrization (2.19), the curved analogues of the systems of the Euclidean I₄-LH class can be constructed by applying local diffeomorphisms of the Euclidean case to the domain of the parametrization (2.19).

Once this is achieved, the corresponding constants of the motion and the superposition principle can be written directly from the results of Subsections 3.1 and 3.2, respectively, although for the sake of brevity we omit these expressions. Nevertheless, we point out that in all applications the first-order constant of motion is $F_{\kappa}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{4}$ (3.13), which is a direct consequence of taking a negative value for the constant c (1.11) (see Table 1).

4.1 Curved split-complex Riccati equation

On the Euclidean plane \mathbf{E}^2 with coordinates (u, v), consider a hypercomplex unit ι which commutes with real numbers and such that $\iota^2 \in \{-1, +1, 0\}$ and define the hypercomplex number $z := u + \iota v$ [44, 45, 49]. The differential equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}z}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)z + b_3(t)z^2 \tag{4.1}$$

is known as the *Cayley–Klein Riccati equation* [8, 30], and is equivalent to the following first-order system of differential equations on \mathbf{E}^2 :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)u + b_3(t)(u^2 + \iota^2 v^2), \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t)v + 2b_3(t)uv.$$
(4.2)

If $\iota^2 = +1$, we obtain the so-called split-complex numbers $z \in \mathbb{C}'$ and ι is usually referred to as the hyperbolic, double or Clifford unit [44, 49]. In this case, the system (4.2) reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)u + b_3(t)(u^2 + v^2), \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t)v + 2b_3(t)uv, \qquad (4.3)$$

which comes from the so-called *split-complex Riccati equation* (4.1). It is associated with the *t*-dependent vector field $\mathbf{X} = b_1(t)\mathbf{X}_1 + b_2(t)\mathbf{X}_2 + b_3(t)\mathbf{X}_3$, where

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_2 = u \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + v \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = (u^2 + v^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + 2uv \frac{\partial}{\partial v},$$

satisfying the commutation relations (1.4). In addition, these are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form given by

$$\omega = -\frac{1}{2v^2} \,\mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v,$$

and their associated Hamiltonian functions are

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2v}, \qquad h_2 = \frac{u}{2v}, \qquad h_3 = \frac{u^2 - v^2}{2v}.$$

All the above expressions are mapped into those of the Euclidean I_4 -LH class displayed in Table 1 via the change of variables [8]

$$x := u + v, \qquad y := u - v, \qquad u = \frac{1}{2}(x + y), \qquad v = \frac{1}{2}(x - y).$$
 (4.4)

Observe that the domain for each set of variables is $\mathbb{R}^2_{x\neq y}$ and $\mathbb{R}^2_{v\neq 0}$.

Within the framework established in Section 3, we apply the transformation (4.4) to the curved I₄-LH class (see Table 2), so now defined on $\mathbf{S}^{1}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^{1}_{[\kappa]}$, thus obtaining the *t*-dependent vector field (3.4) with vector fields, coming from (3.2), given by

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} = C_{\kappa}(v) S_{\kappa}(u) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + C_{\kappa}(u) S_{\kappa}(v) \frac{\partial}{\partial v},$$

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} = 2 \left(\frac{1 - C_{\kappa}(u) C_{\kappa}(v)}{\kappa} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + 2 S_{\kappa}(u) S_{\kappa}(v) \frac{\partial}{\partial v}.$$

(4.5)

They span a VG Lie algebra $V^{X_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$, since they commutators are those of (3.3). The corresponding first-order system of ODEs on $\mathbf{S}^{1}_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^{1}_{[\kappa]}$ turns out to be

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(u) + 2b_3(t) \left(\frac{1 - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(u) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v)}{\kappa}\right),$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(u) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v) + 2b_3(t) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(u) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v).$$
(4.6)

The vector fields (4.5) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = -\frac{1}{2\,\mathcal{S}_{\kappa}^2(v)}\,\mathrm{d}u\wedge\mathrm{d}v,\tag{4.7}$$

and their associated Hamiltonian functions, fulfilling (1.7), read

$$h_{\kappa,1} = \frac{1}{2 \operatorname{T}_{\kappa}(v)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = \frac{\operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(u)}{2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = \frac{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v) - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(u)}{\kappa \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v)}.$$
(4.8)

They span a LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ with respect to the Poisson bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$ induced by the symplectic form (4.7), as their brackets are the same as in (3.9).

The vector fields, the symplectic structure and the Hamiltonian functions of the split-complex Riccati equation (4.3) on \mathbf{E}^2 are recovered under the limit $\kappa \to 0$ from (4.5), (4.7) and (4.8), respectively. We thus call the system (4.6) the curved split-complex Riccati equation.

4.2 A curved diffusion Riccati system

Let us consider the so-called *planar diffusion Riccati system* on \mathbf{E}^2 introduced in [26] and [29] (see [8, Subsection 6.4] and set $c_0 = 1$):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = -b(t) + 2c(t)u + 4a(t)u^2 + a(t)v^4, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = c(t)v + 4a(t)uv, \tag{4.9}$$

where a(t), b(t) and c(t) are arbitrary t-dependent functions. This system is associated with the t-dependent vector field

$$\mathbf{X} = -2b(t)\mathbf{X}_1 + 2c(t)\mathbf{X}_2 + 2a(t)\mathbf{X}_3, \qquad (4.10)$$

where the vector fields

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_2 = u\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{1}{2}v\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = \frac{1}{2}(4u^2 + v^4)\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + 2uv\frac{\partial}{\partial v},$$

verifying the commutation rules (1.4), are Hamiltonian vector fields with respect to the symplectic form given by [8]

$$\omega = -\frac{2}{v^3} \, \mathrm{d} u \wedge \mathrm{d} v,$$

with associated Hamiltonian functions

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2v^2}, \qquad h_2 = \frac{u}{v^2}, \qquad h_3 = 2\frac{u^2}{v^2} - \frac{1}{2}v^2.$$

The (Hamiltonian) vector fields of the Euclidean I_4 -class in the form shown in Table 1 are reproduced after the change of variables defined by

$$x := 2u + v^2,$$
 $y := 2u - v^2,$ $u = \frac{1}{4}(x + y),$ $v = \frac{\pm 1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{|x - y|},$

with domains $\mathbb{R}^2_{x\neq y}$ and $\mathbb{R}^2_{v\neq 0}$.

Then, we apply the above transformation on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ to the curved I₄-LH class, giving rise to the curved *t*-dependent vector field counterpart \mathbf{X}_{κ} of (4.10), where the vector fields $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,i}$ read as

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial u}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v^2) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(2u) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{1}{2v} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(2u) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} = \left(\frac{1 - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(2u) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v^2)}{\kappa}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \frac{1}{v} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(2u) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v^2) \frac{\partial}{\partial y},$$

$$(4.11)$$

closing onto the commutation relations (3.3). The first-order system of ODEs on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ associated with \mathbf{X}_{κ} is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = -b(t) + c(t) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v^2) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(2u) + 2a(t) \left(\frac{1 - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(2u) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v^2)}{\kappa}\right),$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = c(t) \frac{1}{v} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(2u) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v^2) + 2a(t) \frac{1}{v} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(2u) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v^2).$$
(4.12)

The vector fields (4.11) turn out to be Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = -\frac{2v}{\mathcal{S}_{\kappa}^2(v^2)} \,\mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v. \tag{4.13}$$

Their associated Hamiltonian functions read

$$h_{\kappa,1} = \frac{1}{2 \operatorname{T}_{\kappa}(v^2)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = \frac{\operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(2u)}{2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v^2)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = \frac{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(v^2) - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(2u)}{\kappa \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(v^2)}, \tag{4.14}$$

and fulfil the Poisson brackets (3.9). The vector fields, symplectic form and Hamiltonian functions of the planar diffusion Riccati system on \mathbf{E}^2 (4.9) are recovered from (4.11), (4.13) and (4.14) after the contraction $\kappa \to 0$. We therefore call the system (4.12) the *curved Riccati diffusion system*.

4.3 Curved Kummer–Schwarz equation for c < 0

We now consider the second-order Kummer–Schwarz equation on \mathbb{R} studied in [7–9, 32–34]:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 u}{\mathrm{d}t^2} = \frac{3}{2u} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t}\right)^2 - 2c\,u^3 + 2\eta(t)u,$$

where $\eta(t)$ is an arbitrary t-dependent function and c is a constant. This equation is equivalent to the following first-order system of ODEs on the Euclidean plane \mathbf{E}^2

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = v, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{3}{2}\frac{v^2}{u} - 2c\,u^3 + 2\eta(t)u, \tag{4.15}$$

which is related to the *t*-dependent vector field

$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{X}_3 + \eta(t)\mathbf{X}_1,\tag{4.16}$$

where the vector fields given by

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = 2u\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_2 = u\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + 2v\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = v\frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \left(\frac{3}{2}\frac{v^2}{u} - 2c\,u^3\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial v} \tag{4.17}$$

verify the commutation relations (1.4). Whenever c < 0, we are dealing with the Euclidean I₄-class. Let us denote the constant c as

$$c=-\frac{1}{4\lambda^2},\qquad \lambda\in\mathbb{R}-\left\{0\right\}.$$

The vector fields (4.17) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega = \frac{\lambda}{2u^3} \,\mathrm{d} u \wedge \mathrm{d} v,$$

with associated Hamiltonian functions

$$h_1 = \frac{\lambda}{u}, \qquad h_2 = \frac{\lambda v}{2u^2}, \qquad h_3 = -\frac{u}{4\lambda} + \frac{\lambda v^2}{4u^3}.$$

The (Hamiltonian) vector fields are mapped into those encompassing the Euclidean I_4 -class (see Table 1) via the change of variables defined by [7]

$$x := \frac{v}{2u} + \frac{u}{2\lambda}, \qquad y := \frac{v}{2u} - \frac{u}{2\lambda}, \qquad u = \lambda(x - y), \qquad v = \lambda(x^2 - y^2),$$

according to the domains $\mathbb{R}^2_{x\neq y}$ and $\mathbb{R}^2_{u\neq 0}$.

Then, we apply the above transformation on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ to the curved I₄-LH class in order to use the results obtained in Section 3. This yields the curved analogue \mathbf{X}_{κ} of (4.16) where the vector fields

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} &= 2u\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} &= 2\lambda \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + 2 \left\{ u \,\mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) + \frac{\lambda v}{u} \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \end{aligned} \tag{4.18} \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} &= 4\lambda \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + 4 \left\{ u \left(\frac{1 - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)}{\kappa}\right) + \frac{\lambda v}{u} \,\mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \end{aligned}$$

have commutation relations (3.3). The first-order system of ODEs on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ associated with \mathbf{X}_{κ} is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = 4\lambda \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right),
\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = 4u \left(\frac{1 - \mathrm{C}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \,\mathrm{C}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)}{\kappa}\right) + 4 \,\frac{\lambda v}{u} \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right) \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) + 2\eta(t)u. \tag{4.19}$$

The vector fields (4.18) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = \frac{1}{8\lambda u \, \mathrm{S}_{\kappa}^{2}\left(\frac{u}{2\lambda}\right)} \,\mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v, \tag{4.20}$$

and the Hamiltonian functions associated with the vector fields (4.18) read

$$h_{\kappa,1} = \frac{1}{2 \operatorname{T}_{\kappa}(\frac{u}{2\lambda})}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = \frac{\operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{v}{2u})}{2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{u}{2\lambda})}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = \frac{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(\frac{u}{2\lambda}) - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa}(\frac{v}{2u})}{\kappa \operatorname{S}_{\kappa}(\frac{u}{2\lambda})}, \tag{4.21}$$

obeying the Poisson brackets (3.9). The vector fields spanning the VG Lie algebra, symplectic form and Hamiltonian functions of the Kummer–Schwarz equation for c < 0 (4.15) on \mathbf{E}^2 are recovered from (4.18), (4.20) and (4.21), respectively, after the contraction $\kappa \to 0$. Therefore, we call the system (4.19) the curved Kummer–Schwarz equations for c < 0.

4.4 Curved Ermakov equation for c < 0

The Ermakov equation (1.1), outlined in Section 1, with t-dependent vector field \mathbf{X} (1.2) and vector fields (1.3) belongs to the Euclidean I₄-LH class whenever c < 0 [7, 8]. For the computations, we introduce a non-zero real constant λ as

$$c = -\frac{\lambda^4}{4}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}.$$

$$(4.22)$$

The change of coordinates on \mathbf{E}^2 defined by

$$x := -\frac{v}{u} + \frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}, \qquad y := -\frac{v}{u} - \frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}, \qquad u = \pm \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{|x-y|}}, \qquad v = \pm \frac{\lambda(x+y)}{2\sqrt{|x-y|}}, \tag{4.23}$$

maps the vector fields (1.3) into the vector fields spanning the Euclidean I₄-LH class as shown in Table 1. Hence the domains for both set of coordinates are $\mathbb{R}^2_{x\neq y}$ and $\mathbb{R}^2_{u\neq 0}$. Then, we apply the

transformation (4.23) on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ to the curved I₄-LH class. This leads to the *t*-dependent vector field $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa} = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} + \Omega^2(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1}$, where the vector fields given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} &= -u\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} &= -\frac{u^3}{\lambda^2} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \left\{ u \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) - \frac{u^2 v}{\lambda^2} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} &= \frac{2u^3}{\lambda^2} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \left\{ \frac{2u^2 v}{\lambda^2} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) - 2u \left(\frac{1 - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right)}{\kappa}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.24)$$

satisfy the commutation relations (3.3). The first-order system of ODEs on $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1 \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa]}^1$ associated with \mathbf{X}_{κ} reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{2u^3}{\lambda^2} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right),$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{2u^2v}{\lambda^2} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) - 2u \left(\frac{1 - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \mathbf{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right)}{\kappa}\right) - \Omega^2(t)u.$$
(4.25)

Moreover, the vector fields (4.24) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = \frac{\lambda^4}{4u^4 \operatorname{S}^2_{\kappa}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right)} \,\mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v.$$
(4.26)

Their associated Hamiltonian functions, determined by the condition (1.7), turn out to be

$$h_{\kappa,1} = \frac{\lambda^2}{4 \operatorname{T}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = -\frac{\lambda^2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right)}{4 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = \lambda^2 \frac{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right) - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right)}{2\kappa \operatorname{S}_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u^2}\right)}, \qquad (4.27)$$

which verify the commutation relations (3.9).

The vector fields (1.3), the symplectic form (1.5) and the Hamiltonian functions (1.8) of the Ermakov equation (1.1) for c < 0 on \mathbf{E}^2 are recovered from (4.24), (4.26) and (4.27), respectively, after the contraction $\kappa \to 0$. We therefore call the system (4.25) the curved Ermakov equation for c < 0. In addition, such a curved system can alternatively be regarded as the curved Milne–Pinney equation or time-dependent curved Smorodinsky–Winternitz system on $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$. As in the previous applications, the corresponding *t*-independent constants of the motion and superposition rules can be easily derived from the results of Section 3, now via the change of variables (4.23). Due to their mathematical and physical relevance, let us write, for example, the constants of the motion (3.13) for (4.25):

$$F_{\kappa}^{(1)} = -\frac{\lambda^4}{16} = \frac{c}{4}, \qquad F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = \frac{\lambda^4}{8} \frac{C_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2 (u_1^2 + u_2^2)}{2u_1^2 u_2^2}\right) - C_{\kappa} \left(\frac{u_1 v_2 - u_2 v_1}{u_1 u_2}\right)}{\kappa S_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u_1^2}\right) S_{\kappa} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{2u_2^2}\right)}$$

The contraction $\kappa \to 0$ leads to the invariant of the Milne–Pinney equation or Smorodinsky–Winternitz system exactly in the form already obtained in [9, 50], namely

$$F_0^{(2)} = \frac{1}{4}(u_1v_2 - u_2v_1)^2 - \frac{\lambda^4}{16} \frac{(u_1^2 + u_2^2)^2}{u_1^2 u_2^2} = \frac{1}{4}(u_1v_2 - u_2v_1)^2 + \frac{c}{4}\left(\frac{u_1^2}{u_2^2} + \frac{u_2^2}{u_1^2}\right) + \frac{c}{2},$$

which was the cornerstone for deriving a superposition rule in those works. In our case, this would be recovered from (3.21) and the one corresponding to the curved system (4.25) would be provided by (3.20) both through the map (4.23).

Finally, remind, as already commented in Section 3 (see eq. (3.10)), that any curved LH system can be interpreted as a perturbation on the contraction parameter κ of the initial Euclidean system. In particular, for the curved Ermakov system (4.25), we obtain at the first-order in κ the following approximation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = v + \frac{\kappa}{6} \left(\frac{c \, v}{u^4} - \frac{v^3}{u^2} \right) + o[\kappa^2],$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = -\Omega^2(t)u + \frac{c}{u^3} + \frac{\kappa}{12} \left(\frac{c^2}{u^7} - \frac{4c \, v^2}{u^5} - \frac{v^4}{u^3} \right) + o[\kappa^2],$$
(4.28)

to be compared with (1.1) and where we have introduced the parameter c < 0 instead of λ (4.22).

5 The class P₂ of Lie–Hamilton systems on curved spaces

The class P_2 of LH systems on the Euclidean plane E^2 (see Table 1) is spanned by the vector fields

$$\mathbf{X}_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_2 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = (x^2 - y^2)\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + 2xy\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \tag{5.1}$$

which give rise to a subalgebra $\mathfrak{so}(2,1) \simeq \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$, with commutation rules (1.4), of the conformal algebra $\mathfrak{conf}_{0,+} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(3,1)$ of $\mathbf{E}^2 \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],+}^2$. Therefore, they have a very concrete geometrical meaning as conformal symmetries. From (2.24) with $\kappa_2 = +1$, it is found that they correspond, in this order, to the generators of translations along the basic geodesic l_1 , dilations and specific conformal transformations related to l_1 on \mathbf{E}^2 , that is, $\mathbf{X}_1 = -\mathbf{P}_1$, $\mathbf{X}_2 = -\mathbf{D}$ and $\mathbf{X}_3 = 2\mathbf{G}_1$.

In order to generalize the Euclidean class P_2 , let us consider the curved counterparts (2.22) of the vector fields (5.1), thus yielding the following conformal vector fields on the 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$:

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} = \frac{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1}(x)}{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1}(x) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} = \frac{2}{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)} \left(\mathbf{V}_{\kappa_1}(x) - \kappa_2 \mathbf{V}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + 2 \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1}(x) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y},$$
(5.2)

where we have used the shorthand notation $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2)$ introduced in Section 2. Their commutation relations read (see (2.21))

$$[\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1}, \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}] = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} - \frac{1}{2}\kappa_1 \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1}, \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}] = 2\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}, \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}] = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}.$$
(5.3)

The t-dependent vector field

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa} = b_1(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} + b_2(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} + b_3(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}, \qquad (5.4)$$

where $b_i(t)$ are arbitrary *t*-dependent functions, is associated with the following first-order system of ODEs on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t) \frac{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1}(x)}{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)} + 2b_3(t) \frac{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1}(x)}{\kappa_1 \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)},
\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t) \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1}(x) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) + 2b_3(t) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1}(x) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y).$$
(5.5)

Consequently, \mathbf{X}_{κ} is a Lie system whose VG Lie algebra $V^{X_{\kappa}}$ spanned by the vector fields (5.2) is isomorphic to $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$. In addition, \mathbf{X}_{κ} is also a LH system since the relation (1.6) provides a symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = \frac{C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}(y)}{S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}^2(y)} dx \wedge dy, \qquad (5.6)$$

turning the vector fields (5.2) into Hamiltonian vector fields via the condition (1.7); these are

$$h_{\kappa,1} = -\frac{1}{S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = -\frac{S_{\kappa_1}(x)}{T_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)}, h_{\kappa,3} = \frac{2}{S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)} \left(\kappa_1\kappa_2 V_{\kappa_1}(x) V_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) - \kappa_2 V_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) - V_{\kappa_1}(x)\right) = 2 \frac{C_{\kappa_1}(x) C_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y) - 1}{\kappa_1 S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y)}.$$
(5.7)

Their Poisson brackets $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$ induced by ω_{κ} (5.6) read as

$$\{h_{\kappa,1}, h_{\kappa,2}\}_{\omega_{\kappa}} = -h_{\kappa,1} + \frac{1}{2}\kappa_1 h_{\kappa,3}, \qquad \{h_{\kappa,1}, h_{\kappa,3}\}_{\omega_{\kappa}} = -2h_{\kappa,2}, \qquad \{h_{\kappa,2}, h_{\kappa,3}\}_{\omega_{\kappa}} = -h_{\kappa,3}, \quad (5.8)$$

showing that \mathbf{X}_{κ} is a LH system with LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$.

Summing up, we call the LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} the curved P_2 -LH class as it actually constitutes a generalization of the Euclidean P_2 -LH class to the 2D curved spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$, recovering the Euclidean LH structure, shown in Table 1, from (5.2), (5.6) and (5.7) under the contraction $\kappa_1 \to 0$ and setting $\kappa_2 = +1$.

We explicitly display in Table 3 the curved P₂-LH class on each of the nine 2D CK spaces. In all cases, the VG Lie algebra $V^{X_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ (5.3) and the LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}} \simeq \mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ (5.8). The domain of the variables (x, y) guarantees a well-defined symplectic form and Hamiltonian functions.

Recall that the six spaces with $\kappa_2 \leq 0$ can be regarded as (1+1)D kinematical spacetimes considering the relationships (2.15), where x becomes the time coordinate and y the spatial one. Under this interpretation, the vector fields $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,i}$ (5.2) correspond to the generators of time translations along the time-like geodesic l_1 , dilations and specific conformal transformations also related to l_1 on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$. Therefore, the resulting LH systems shown in Table 3 are of 'time-like' type. In this respect, observe that although the 'main' time-like metric (2.14) is degenerate in the Newtonian spaces with $\kappa_2 = 0$ ($c = \infty$), with foliation determined by (2.16), our results allow the construction of Newtonian LH systems in a consistent way, as it was already performed considering the isometries on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ from the Euclidean P₁-LH class in [37].

Furthermore, we stress that, in this kinematical framework, it would be possible to construct 'space-like' LH systems by starting from the generator of spatial translations \mathbf{P}_2 along the geodesic l_2 instead of $\mathbf{P}_1 = \partial_x$ (2.22). In this case, the well adapted variables would be the geodesic parallel coordinates of type II (x', y') (2.13). In particular, for such an analogous 'space-like' approach, one should consider the vector fields $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} = -\mathbf{P}_2$, $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} = -\mathbf{D}$ and $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} = 2\mathbf{G}_2$, which in terms of (x', y') are given by [35]

$$\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial y'}, \qquad \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} = S_{\kappa_1}(x') C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}(y') \frac{\partial}{\partial x'} + \frac{S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}(y')}{C_{\kappa_1}(x')} \frac{\partial}{\partial y'}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} = 2\kappa_2 S_{\kappa_1}(x') S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}(y') \frac{\partial}{\partial x'} - \frac{2}{C_{\kappa_1}(x')} \left(V_{\kappa_1}(x') - \kappa_2 V_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}(y') \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial y'}, \end{cases}$$

Table 3: The curved P₂-LH class on the nine 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ according to the 'normalized' values $\kappa_i \in \{1, 0, -1\}$. For each space it is shown, in geodesic parallel coordinates (x, y) (2.13), the metric ds^2_{κ} (2.14), domain of the variables, vector fields $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,i}$ (5.2), Hamiltonian functions $h_{\kappa,i}$ (5.7), and symplectic form ω_{κ} (5.6). For the sake of clarity, we drop the index $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2)$.

• Sphere S^2 • Euclidean plane \mathbf{E}^2 • Hyperbolic plane \mathbf{H}^2 $\mathbf{S}_{[+],+}^2 = \mathrm{SO}(3)/\mathrm{SO}(2)$ $\mathbf{S}_{[0],+}^2 = \mathrm{ISO}(2)/\mathrm{SO}(2)$ $\mathbf{S}^{2}_{[-],+} = \mathrm{SO}(2,1)/\mathrm{SO}(2)$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \cos^2 y \,\mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}y^2$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}y^2$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \cosh^2 y \,\mathrm{d}x^2 + \mathrm{d}y^2$ $x \in (-\pi, \pi], y \in [-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}], y \neq 0$ $x \in \mathbb{R}, y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $x \in \mathbb{R}, y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = \frac{\sinh x}{\cosh y} \,\partial_x + \cosh x \sinh y \,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = \frac{\sin x}{\cos y} \,\partial_x + \cos x \sin y \,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = x\partial_x + y\partial_y$ $\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_3 &= 2 \, \frac{\cos y - \cos x}{\cos y} \, \partial_x + 2 \sin x \sin y \, \partial_y \\ h_1 &= -\frac{1}{\sin y} \qquad h_2 = -\frac{\sin x}{\tan y} \end{aligned}$ $\mathbf{X}_{3} = (x^{2} - y^{2})\partial_{x} + 2xy\partial_{y} \qquad \mathbf{X}_{3} = 2\frac{\cosh x - \cosh y}{\cosh y}\partial_{x} + 2\sinh x \sinh y \partial_{y}$ $h_{1} = -\frac{1}{y} \qquad h_{2} = -\frac{x}{y} \qquad h_{1} = -\frac{1}{\sinh y} \qquad h_{2} = -\frac{\sinh x}{\tanh y}$ $h_3 = 2 \, \frac{\cos x \cos y - 1}{\sin y}$ $h_3 = -\frac{x^2 + y^2}{y}$ $h_3 = 2 \, \frac{1 - \cosh x \cosh y}{\sinh y}$ $\omega = \frac{\cosh y}{\sinh^2 y} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ $\omega = \frac{\cos y}{\sin^2 y} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ $\omega = \frac{1}{u^2} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ • Oscillating NH space \mathbf{NH}^{1+1}_+ \bullet Galilean plane \mathbf{G}^{1+1} • Expanding NH space \mathbf{NH}_{-}^{1+1} $\mathbf{S}_{[+],0}^2 = \mathrm{ISO}(2)/\mathbb{R}$ $\mathbf{S}_{[0],0}^2 = \mathrm{IISO}(1)/\mathbb{R}$ $\mathbf{S}^2_{[-],0} = \mathrm{ISO}(1,1)/\mathbb{R}$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2$ $x \in (-\pi, \pi], y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $x \in \mathbb{R}, y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $x \in \mathbb{R}, y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_r$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_r$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_r$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = x\partial_x + y\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = \sin x \,\partial_x + y \cos x \,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = \sinh x \,\partial_x + y \cosh x \,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_3 = x^2 \partial_x + 2xy \partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_3 = 2(1 - \cos x)\partial_x + 2y\sin x\,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_3 = 2(\cosh x - 1)\partial_x + 2y\sinh x\,\partial_y$ $h_1 = -\frac{1}{y} \qquad h_2 = -\frac{\sin x}{y}$ $h_1 = -\frac{1}{y}$ $h_2 = -\frac{x}{y}$ $h_1 = -\frac{1}{y}$ $h_2 = -\frac{\sinh x}{y}$ $h_3 = 2 \, \frac{\cos x - 1}{y}$ $h_3 = 2 \, \frac{1 - \cosh x}{y}$ $h_3 = -\frac{x^2}{y}$ $\omega = \frac{1}{u^2} \, \mathrm{d} x \wedge \mathrm{d} y$ $\omega = \frac{1}{u^2} \, \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ $\omega = \frac{1}{u^2} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ • De Sitter space dS^{1+1} • Anti-de Sitter space AdS¹⁺¹ • Minkowskian plane \mathbf{M}^{1+1} $\mathbf{S}^{2}_{[-],-} = \mathrm{SO}(2,1)/\mathrm{SO}(1,1)$ $\mathbf{S}_{[+],-}^2 = \mathrm{SO}(2,1)/\mathrm{SO}(1,1)$ $\mathbf{S}_{[0],-}^2 = \mathrm{ISO}(1,1)/\mathrm{SO}(1,1)$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \mathrm{d}x^2 - \mathrm{d}y^2$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \cos^2 y \,\mathrm{d}x^2 - \mathrm{d}y^2$ $\mathrm{d}s^2 = \cosh^2 y \,\mathrm{d}x^2 - \mathrm{d}y^2$ $x \in (-\pi,\pi], y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $x \in \mathbb{R}, y \in \mathbb{R}, y \neq 0$ $x \in \mathbb{R}, y \in (-\pi, \pi), y \neq 0$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_r$ $\mathbf{X}_1 = \partial_x$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = \frac{\sin x}{\cosh y} \,\partial_x + \cos x \sinh y \,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = \frac{\sinh x}{\cos y} \,\partial_x + \cosh x \sin y \,\partial_y$ $\mathbf{X}_2 = x\partial_x + y\partial_y$ $\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_3 &= 2 \, \frac{\cosh y - \cos x}{\cosh y} \, \partial_x + 2 \sin x \sinh y \, \partial_y & \mathbf{X}_3 &= (x^2 + y^2) \partial_x + 2xy \partial_y \\ h_1 &= -\frac{1}{\sinh y} \quad h_2 &= -\frac{\sin x}{\tanh y} & h_1 &= -\frac{1}{y} \quad h_2 &= -\frac{x}{y} \end{aligned}$ $\mathbf{X}_3 = (x^2 + y^2)\partial_x + 2xy\partial_y \qquad \mathbf{X}_3 = 2\frac{\cosh x - \cos y}{\cos y}\partial_x + 2\sinh x \sin y\partial_y$ $h_1 = -\frac{1}{y} \qquad h_2 = -\frac{x}{y} \qquad h_1 = -\frac{1}{\sin y} \qquad h_2 = -\frac{\sinh x}{\tan y}$ $h_3 = -\frac{x^2 - y^2}{y}$ $h_3 = 2 \, \frac{\cos x \cosh y - 1}{\sinh y}$ $h_3 = 2 \, \frac{1 - \cosh x \cos y}{\sin y}$ $\omega = \frac{\cosh y}{\sinh^2 y} \, \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ $\omega = \frac{1}{u^2} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$ $\omega = \frac{\cos y}{\sin^2 y} \,\mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y$

fulfilling the following commutation relations (see (2.21))

$$[\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1},\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}] = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} - \frac{1}{2}\kappa_1\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1},\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}] = 2\kappa_2\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2}, \qquad [\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2},\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3}] = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3},$$

and to be compared with (5.3). Hence, they now correspond to the generators of spatial translations along the space-like geodesic l_2 (see Figure 1), dilations and specific conformal transformations related to l_2 on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$. Clearly, such 'space-like' LH systems would be diffeomorphic to the previous 'time-like' ones only for the three Riemannian spaces with $\kappa_2 > 0$, under an appropriate change of variables, but they would provide new LH systems for the six models of spacetimes.

Then, as we have already commented in Section 3 (see eq. (3.10)), the contraction parameters $\kappa = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2)$ can be seen as 'integrable' perturbation parameters from the initial 'flat' system. In the curved P₂-LH class, the most contracted LH system is just the Galilean one, shown in the center of Table 3, leading to following system

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)x + b_3(t)x^2, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t)y + 2b_3(t)xy, \tag{5.9}$$

which is formed by a Riccati equation in x coupled with another equation in y. From it we can express the curved P₂-LH class (5.5) as a perturbation at the first-order in both (κ_1, κ_2), namely,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)x + b_3(t)x^2 - \frac{1}{12}\kappa_1(2b_2(t)x^3 + b_3(t)x^4) - \kappa_2b_3(t)y^2 + o[\kappa_1^2, \kappa_2^2, \kappa_1\kappa_2],
\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t)y + 2b_3(t)xy - \frac{1}{6}\kappa_1(3b_2(t)x^2y + 2b_3(t)x^3y) + o[\kappa_1^2, \kappa_2^2, \kappa_1\kappa_2].$$
(5.10)

Other perturbations can be constructed starting from another contracted LH system, that is, from the Euclidean, Minkowkian, and both Newton–Hooke ones.

5.1 Constants of the motion of the curved P_2 -class

Analogously to the curved I₄-class (see Section 3.1), we now compute the *t*-independent constants of the motion of the LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} (5.5). Since the LH algebra $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$ (5.8) of the curved P₂-class and the LH algebra of the curved I₄-class (3.9) formally satisfy the same brackets, provided that $\kappa \equiv \kappa_1$ (regardless of the value of κ_2), the Casimir (3.11) also holds for $\mathcal{H}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$. From (5.7) we construct the following Hamiltonian functions $(1 \leq i \leq 3)$:

$$h_{\kappa,i}^{(1)} = h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2}),
 h_{\kappa,i}^{(2)} = h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) + h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2} \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2}),
 h_{\kappa,i}^{(3)} = h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_{1}) + h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_{2}) + h_{\kappa,i}(\mathbf{x}_{3}) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2} \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2} \times \mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2}),$$
(5.11)

where $\mathbf{x}_s = (x_s, y_s)$ denotes the coordinates in the s^{th} -copy of $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ within the product manifold. Each set of Hamiltonian functions verifies the Poisson brackets (5.8) with respect to the Poisson bracket induced by taking the product symplectic structure $\omega_{\kappa}^{[3]}$ of (5.6) to $(\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2})^3$:

$$\omega_{\kappa}^{[3]} = \sum_{s=1}^{3} \frac{\mathcal{C}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}(y_s)}{\mathcal{S}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}^2(y_s)} \, \mathrm{d}x_s \wedge \mathrm{d}y_s.$$

Now, using the Casimir (3.11), with $\kappa \equiv \kappa_1$, we obtain the following constants of the motion for the diagonal prolongation $\widetilde{\mathbf{X}}^3_{\kappa}$ of \mathbf{X}_{κ} to $(\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2})^3$:

$$F_{\kappa}^{(1)} = C\left(h_{\kappa,1}^{(1)}, h_{\kappa,2}^{(1)}, h_{\kappa,3}^{(1)}\right) = \kappa_2,$$

$$F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = C\left(h_{\kappa,1}^{(2)}, h_{\kappa,2}^{(2)}, h_{\kappa,3}^{(2)}\right) = 2\left(\kappa_2 + \frac{1 - C_{\kappa_1}(x_1 - x_2) C_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y_1) C_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y_2)}{\kappa_1 S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y_1) S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}(y_2)}\right).$$
(5.12)

We illustrate the CK contraction approach by performing the flat limit $\kappa_1 \to 0$ and the non-relativistic limit $\kappa_2 \to 0$ of $F_{\kappa}^{(2)}$, yielding the constants of the motion for the LH systems shown in the second column and second row in Table 3:

$$F_{(0,\kappa_2)}^{(2)} = \frac{(x_1 - x_2)^2 + \kappa_2 (y_1 + y_2)^2}{y_1 y_2}, \qquad F_{(\kappa_1,0)}^{(2)} = 2\left(\frac{1 - C_{\kappa_1}(x_1 - x_2)}{\kappa_1 y_1 y_2}\right).$$
(5.13)

Both reduce to the constant of the motion for the (most contracted) Galilean system with $\kappa = (0, 0)$:

$$F_{(0,0)}^{(2)} = \frac{(x_1 - x_2)^2}{y_1 y_2}.$$

Recall that the constant of motion $F_{(0,\kappa_2)}^{(2)}$ leads to the one corresponding to the Euclidean P₂-class for $\kappa_2 = +1$ obtained in [8].

Furthermore, $F_{\kappa}^{(2)}$ provides two other constants of the motion by means of the permutation S_{ij} of the variables $(x_i, y_i) \leftrightarrow (x_j, y_j)$:

$$F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)} = S_{13} \left(F_{\kappa}^{(2)} \right) = 2 \left(\kappa_2 + \frac{1 - C_{\kappa_1} (x_3 - x_2) C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_2) C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_3)}{\kappa_1 S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_2) S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_3)} \right),$$

$$F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)} = S_{23} \left(F_{\kappa}^{(2)} \right) = 2 \left(\kappa_2 + \frac{1 - C_{\kappa_1} (x_1 - x_3) C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_1) C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_3)}{\kappa_1 S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_1) S_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} (y_3)} \right).$$
(5.14)

Finally, the functions $h_{\kappa,i}^{(3)}$ (5.11) give rise to another constant of the motion that can be written in terms of (5.12) and (5.14) in the form

$$F_{\kappa}^{(3)} = C\left(h_{\kappa,1}^{(3)}, h_{\kappa,2}^{(3)}, h_{\kappa,3}^{(3)}\right) = F_{\kappa}^{(2)} + F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)} + F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)} - 3\kappa_2.$$

5.2 Superposition rules for the curved P₂-class

Similarly to the curved I₄-class, addressed in Section 3.2, we have deduced four t-independent constants of the motion $\{F_{\kappa}^{(2)}, F_{\kappa,13}^{(2)}, F_{\kappa,23}^{(3)}, F_{\kappa}^{(3)}\}$ for the curved P₂-LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} (5.5), so holding for any choice of κ . They allow the derivation of a superposition rule for the diagonal prolongation $\mathbf{\tilde{X}}_{\kappa}^{3}$ of \mathbf{X}_{κ} to $(\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],\kappa_{2}}^{2})^{3}$. Again, it is necessary to select two functionally independent constants of the motion, I_{1} and I_{2} , fulfilling the condition (3.16). In this case, we can set $F_{\kappa}^{(2)} = \mu_{1}$ (5.12) and $F_{\kappa,23}^{(2)} = \mu_{2}$ (5.14), and try to deduce the general solution $(x_{1}(t), y_{1}(t))$ of the LH system in terms of two particular solutions $(x_{2}(t), y_{2}(t))$ and $(x_{3}(t), y_{3}(t))$ along with the constants μ_{1} and μ_{2} . Nevertheless, the computations are very cumbersome, precluding to express a general superposition rule in an explicit way for an arbitrary $\boldsymbol{\kappa} = (\kappa_{1}, \kappa_{2})$. However, for the contracted cases, with some $\kappa_{i} = 0$, it is possible to obtain such a rule in an explicit form. Therefore, we shall restrict ourselves to present a superposition principle for the three flat spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[0],\kappa_{2}}^{2}$ and for the three non-relativistic ones $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_{1}],0}^{2}$, separately.

Let us consider the flat LH system $\mathbf{X}_{(0,\kappa_2)}$ (5.5) defined on the Euclidean $\mathbf{E}^2 \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],+}^2$, Galilean $\mathbf{G}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],0}^2$ and Minkowskian $\mathbf{M}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],-}^2$ planes (displayed in the second column of Table 3). Under the contraction $\kappa_1 \to 0$, the symplectic form (5.6) and Hamiltonian functions (5.7), determining $\mathbf{X}_{(0,\kappa_2)}$, reduce to

$$\omega_{(0,\kappa_2)} = \frac{1}{y^2} \, \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y, \quad h_{(0,\kappa_2),1} = -\frac{1}{y}, \quad h_{(0,\kappa_2),2} = -\frac{x}{y}, \quad h_{(0,\kappa_2),3} = -\frac{x^2 + \kappa_2 y^2}{y}$$

Then we take the constant of the motion $F_{(0,\kappa_2)}^{(2)}$ (5.13) together with its permutations $F_{(0,\kappa_2),13}^{(2)}$, $F_{(0,\kappa_2),23}^{(2)}$, and set

$$F_{(0,\kappa_2)}^{(2)} = \frac{(x_1 - x_2)^2 + \kappa_2(y_1 + y_2)^2}{y_1 y_2} = \mu_1, \quad F_{(0,\kappa_2),23}^{(2)} = \frac{(x_1 - x_3)^2 + \kappa_2(y_1 + y_3)^2}{y_1 y_3} = \mu_2,$$

$$F_{(0,\kappa_2),13}^{(2)} = \frac{(x_2 - x_3)^2 + \kappa_2(y_2 + y_3)^2}{y_2 y_3} = \mu_3.$$
(5.15)

From the first equation we find that

$$x_1^{\pm}(y_1, x_2, y_2, \mu_1) = x_2 \pm \sqrt{\mu_1 y_1 y_2 - \kappa_2 (y_1 + y_2)^2}.$$
(5.16)

Substituting this result in the second relation in (5.15), we obtain

$$y_{1}^{\pm}(x_{2}, y_{2}, x_{3}, y_{3}, \mu_{1}, \mu_{2}) = \left\{ y_{2}y_{3}((\mu_{1}\mu_{3} + A)y_{2} + (\mu_{2}\mu_{3} + A)y_{3}) \pm 2\sqrt{y_{2}^{2}y_{3}^{2}B(\kappa_{2}(y_{2} + y_{3})^{2} - \mu_{3}y_{2}y_{3})} \right\} \\ \times \left\{ \mu_{1}(\mu_{1} - 4\kappa_{2})y_{2}^{2} + \mu_{2}(\mu_{2} - 4\kappa_{2})y_{3}^{2} - 2(\mu_{1}\mu_{2} + A)y_{2}y_{3} \right\}^{-1}, \\ A = -2\kappa_{2}(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2} + \mu_{3}) + 8\kappa_{2}^{2}, \\ B = -\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3} + \kappa_{2}(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2} + \mu_{3})^{2} - 8\kappa_{2}^{2}(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2} + \mu_{3}) + 16\kappa_{2}^{3},$$

reminding that $\mu_3 = \mu_3(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3)$ via the third relation in (5.15). Finally, introducing this last expression in (5.16) we arrive at $x_1^{\pm}(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2)$, thus completing the superposition principle for the flat LH system $\mathbf{X}_{(0,\kappa_2)}$.

As a second subfamily within the curved P₂-LH system \mathbf{X}_{κ} (5.5), let us focus on the three nonrelativistic systems $\mathbf{X}_{(\kappa_1,0)}$, so with underlying oscillating NH $\mathbf{NH}^{1+1}_+ \equiv \mathbf{S}^2_{[+],0}$, Galilean $\mathbf{G}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}^2_{[0],0}$ (again) and expanding NH $\mathbf{NH}^{1+1}_- \equiv \mathbf{S}^2_{[-],0}$ (1+1)D spacetimes (displayed in the second row of Table 3). Observe that under the non-relativistic limit $\kappa_2 \to 0$ ($c \to \infty$), the symplectic form (5.6) and Hamiltonian functions (5.7), defining $\mathbf{X}_{(\kappa_1,0)}$, lead to

$$\omega_{(\kappa_1,0)} = \frac{1}{y^2} \, \mathrm{d}x \wedge \mathrm{d}y, \quad h_{(\kappa_1,0),1} = -\frac{1}{y}, \quad h_{(\kappa_1,0),2} = -\frac{S_{\kappa_1}(x)}{y}, \quad h_{(\kappa_1,0),3} = 2 \frac{C_{\kappa_1}(x) - 1}{\kappa_1 y}.$$

We express the constant of the motion $F_{(\kappa_1,0)}^{(2)}$ (5.13) in the form

$$F_{(\kappa_1,0)}^{(2)} = \frac{4S_{\kappa_1}^2(\frac{1}{2}(x_1 - x_2))}{y_1y_2} = \mu_1$$

so that

$$y_1(x_1, x_2, y_2, \mu_1) = \frac{4 \operatorname{S}^2_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}(x_1 - x_2))}{\mu_1 y_2}.$$
(5.17)

We introduce this result in $F_{(\kappa_1,0),23}^{(2)} = S_{23}(F_{(\kappa_1,0)}^{(2)}) = \mu_2$ and, after some computations, we get the following equation

$$\mu_1 \frac{y_2}{y_3} \left(\frac{\mathrm{T}_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_1) \,\mathrm{C}_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_3) - \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_3)}{\mathrm{T}_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_1) \,\mathrm{C}_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_2) - \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_2)} \right)^2 = \mu_2$$

This gives rise to $x_1(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2)$ in the form

$$T_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_1^{\pm}) = \frac{\sqrt{\mu_1} S_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_3)\sqrt{y_2} \pm \sqrt{\mu_2} S_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_2)\sqrt{y_3}}{\sqrt{\mu_1} C_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_3)\sqrt{y_2} \pm \sqrt{\mu_2} C_{\kappa_1}(\frac{1}{2}x_2)\sqrt{y_3}}$$

which, by substitution in (5.17) yields $y_1(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2)$ completing the full superposition rule for the non-relativistic LH systems $\mathbf{X}_{(\kappa_1,0)}$.

Consequently, we have deduced two equivalent superposition rules for LH systems based on the the Galilean $\mathbf{G}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],0}^2$ space, both leading to the following expressions

$$x_1^{\pm}(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2) = \frac{\mu_1 x_3 y_2 - \mu_2 x_2 y_3 \pm (x_2 - x_3) \sqrt{\mu_1 \mu_2 y_2 y_3}}{\mu_1 y_2 - \mu_2 y_3},$$

$$y_1^{\mp}(x_2, y_2, x_3, y_3, \mu_1, \mu_2) = \frac{(x_2 - x_3)^2 (\mu_1 y_2 + \mu_2 y_3 \mp 2 \sqrt{\mu_1 \mu_2 y_2 y_3})}{(\mu_1 y_2 - \mu_2 y_3)^2}.$$

6 Applications of the curved P₂-class

The Euclidean P₂-LH class is known to include the following relevant systems [8]: the complex Riccati equation, the Kummer–Schwarz and Ermakov equations, both for c > 0 (see (1.11) and Table 1). By making use of the results of the previous section on the curved P₂-LH class we generalize such Euclidean systems to the nine CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$.

6.1 Curved complex Riccati equation

The complex Riccati equation on $\mathbf{E}^2 \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],+}^2$ corresponds to the case in (4.1) when z is a complex number such that $\iota^2 = -1$. This equation has been widely studied from different points of view (see, e.g., [22–28] and references therein) and leads to the following first-order system on \mathbf{E}^2 :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)x + b_3(t)(x^2 - y^2),\\ \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t)y + 2b_3(t)xy,$$

provided that z = x + iy. This system is just recovered from the general *t*-dependent vector field \mathbf{X}_{κ} (5.4) with equations (5.5) for the particular case with $\kappa_1 \to 0$ and $\kappa_2 = +1$. Therefore, we shall call the LH system (5.5) the *curved complex Riccati equation* on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$, being endowed with the VG Lie algebra (5.3), symplectic form (5.6) and LH algebra (5.8).

Observe that for the three flat LH systems $\mathbf{X}_{(0,\kappa_2)}$ (5.5), covering $\mathbf{E}^2 \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],+}^2$, $\mathbf{G}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],0}^2$ and $\mathbf{M}^{1+1} \equiv \mathbf{S}_{[0],-}^2$, it is found that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_1(t) + b_2(t)x + b_3(t)(x^2 - \kappa_2 y^2),
\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} = b_2(t)y + 2b_3(t)xy,$$
(6.1)

whose superpostion rule has been deduced in Section 5.2. Hence, in the Galilei case with $\kappa_2 = 0$ we recover the system (5.9), formed by the usual Riccati equation in x coupled with a second equation in y.

It is worth mentioning that the system (6.1) can be solved without using the superposition rule. Indeed, solving the second equation for x leads to

$$x(t) = \frac{\frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}t} - b_2(t)y}{2b_3(t)y}$$

and a second-order ODE in y(t), which, after the change of variables $y(t) = \xi(t)^{-2}$, adopts the form

$$\frac{d^2\xi}{dt^2} = \frac{d}{dt} \log(|b_3(t)|) \frac{d\xi}{dt} - A(t)\xi + \frac{b_3(t)^2 \kappa_2}{\xi^3},$$
(6.2)

where

$$A(t) = b_1(t)b_3(t) - \frac{1}{4}b_2(t)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}b_2(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} - \frac{b_2(t)\frac{\mathrm{d}b_3(t)}{\mathrm{d}t}}{2b_3(t)}$$

The ODE (6.2) admits a 3D Lie point symmetry algebra, incidentally isomorphic to $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$, implying that it can be linearized via a nonpoint transformation [51, 52]. However, as this transformation also involves the independent variable, it alters the physical significance of the solution.

6.2 Curved Kummer–Schwarz equation for c > 0

The Kummer–Schwarz equation (4.15) [32–34], with variables (u, v), t-dependent vector field (4.16) and vector fields (4.17), belongs to the Euclidean P₂-LH class whenever the constant c > 0 [7–9], that we shall express as

$$c = \frac{1}{\lambda^2}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}.$$

In this case, the change of coordinates on \mathbf{E}^2 defined by

$$x := \frac{v}{2u}, \qquad y := \frac{u}{\lambda}, \qquad u = \lambda y, \qquad v = 2\lambda xy,$$
(6.3)

maps the vector fields (4.17) into (5.1) spanning the Euclidean P₂-LH class with domains $\mathbb{R}^2_{u\neq 0}$ and $\mathbb{R}^2_{y\neq 0}$, respectively. This shows (see Table 1) that the vector fields (4.17) are Hamiltonian vector fields with respect to the symplectic form

$$\omega = -\frac{\lambda}{2u^3} \,\mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v,$$

with associated Hamiltonian functions

$$h_1 = -\frac{\lambda}{u}, \qquad h_2 = -\frac{\lambda v}{2u^2}, \qquad h_3 = -\frac{u}{\lambda} - \frac{\lambda v^2}{4u^3}.$$

In order to generalize the Kummer–Schwarz equation (4.15) for c > 0 to the nine CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ using the results obtained in Section 5, we apply the transformation (6.3) to the curved

P₂-class. This procedure yields the *t*-dependent vector field $\mathbf{X}_{\kappa} = \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} + \eta(t)\mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1}$ as the curved counterpart of the Euclidean system (4.16), where the vector fields

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} &= 2u\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} &= \lambda \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \left\{ 2u\frac{\operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)}{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)} + \frac{\lambda v}{u} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} &= 2\lambda \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \\ &+ \left\{ 4u \left(\frac{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)}{\kappa_1 \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)} \right) + \frac{2\lambda v}{u} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \end{aligned}$$
(6.4)

obey the commutation relations (5.3). Hence, we obtain the following first-order system of differential equations on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$, so generalizing (4.15):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = 2\lambda \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right),
\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = 4u \left(\frac{\mathrm{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) - \mathrm{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)}{\kappa_1 \,\mathrm{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)}\right) + \frac{2\lambda v}{u} \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right) \,\mathrm{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) + 2\eta(t)u.$$
(6.5)

In addition, the vector fields (6.4) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = -\frac{C_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)}{2\lambda u \, S^2_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)} \, \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v,\tag{6.6}$$

with associated Hamiltonian functions given by

$$h_{\kappa,1} = -\frac{1}{S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = -\frac{S_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)}{T_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = 2\frac{C_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{2u}\right)C_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right) - 1}{\kappa_1 S_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{u}{\lambda}\right)}.$$
(6.7)

The corresponding Poisson brackets $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\omega_{\kappa}}$, induced by the symplectic form (6.6), are identical to those in (5.8). Observe that, as expected, the system (6.5) can also be obtained from the Hamilton equations of the time-dependent Hamiltonian $h_{\kappa} = h_{\kappa,3} + \eta(t)h_{\kappa,1}$.

The vector fields spanning the corresponding VG Lie algebra, symplectic form and Hamiltonian functions of the Kummer–Schwarz equation (4.15) for c > 0 on \mathbf{E}^2 are recovered from (6.4), (6.6) and (6.7) after the contraction $\kappa_1 \to 0$ with $\kappa_2 = +1$. Thus, we call the system (6.5) the curved Kummer–Schwarz equation for c > 0.

6.3 Curved Ermakov equation for c > 0

As last application, let us consider the Ermakov equation (1.1) with positive constant c > 0 which corresponds to the Euclidean P₂-LH class [7, 8]. If we set

$$c = \lambda^4, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\},$$

it can be shown that the change of coordinates on \mathbf{E}^2 given by

$$x := -\frac{v}{u}, \qquad y := \pm \frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}, \qquad u = \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{|y|}}, \qquad v = -\frac{\lambda x}{\sqrt{|y|}}, \tag{6.8}$$

maps the vector fields (1.3) into those determining the Euclidean P₂-LH class (5.1) with domains $\mathbb{R}^2_{u\neq 0}$ and $\mathbb{R}^2_{y\neq 0}$, respectively.

Applying again the transformation (6.8) to the curved P₂-LH class constructed in Section 5, we are led to the following curved analogue

$$\mathbf{X}_{\boldsymbol{\kappa}} = \mathbf{X}_{\boldsymbol{\kappa},3} + \Omega^2(t) \mathbf{X}_{\boldsymbol{\kappa},1},\tag{6.9}$$

on the nine spaces $\mathbf{S}_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}^2$ of the *t*-dependent Ermakov vector field \mathbf{X} (1.2), where the 'curved' vector fields now read

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,1} &= -u\frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,2} &= -\frac{u^3}{2\lambda^2} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + \left\{ \frac{u \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{u}\right)}{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)} - \frac{u^2 v}{2\lambda^2} \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}, \\ \mathbf{X}_{\kappa,3} &= \frac{u^3}{\lambda^2} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \\ &+ \left\{ 2u \left(\frac{\operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{u}\right) - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}{\kappa_1 \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)} \right) + \frac{u^2 v}{\lambda^2} \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1}\left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1\kappa_2}\left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right) \right\} \frac{\partial}{\partial v}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.10)

These satisfy the commutation relations (5.3). Therefore, we obtain the following first-order system of differential equations on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ associated with \mathbf{X}_{κ} (6.9):

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{u^3}{\lambda^2} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right),$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}t} = 2u \left(\frac{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}{\kappa_1 \mathbf{C}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}\right) + \frac{u^2 v}{\lambda^2} \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \mathbf{S}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right) - \Omega^2(t)u.$$
(6.11)

Furthermore, the vector fields (6.10) are Hamiltonian vector fields relative to the symplectic form

$$\omega_{\kappa} = \frac{\lambda^4 \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}{u^4 \operatorname{S}^2_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)} \,\mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}v,$$

such that their associated Hamiltonian functions turn out to be

$$h_{\kappa,1} = \frac{\lambda^2}{2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,2} = -\frac{\lambda^2 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right)}{2 \operatorname{T}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}, \qquad h_{\kappa,3} = \lambda^2 \frac{1 - \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1} \left(\frac{v}{u}\right) \operatorname{C}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)}{\kappa_1 \operatorname{S}_{\kappa_1 \kappa_2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{u^2}\right)},$$

which close on the Poisson brackets (5.8). The differential equations (6.11) can alternatively be obtained as the Hamilton equations of the time-dependent Hamiltonian $h_{\kappa} = h_{\kappa,3} + \Omega^2(t)h_{\kappa,1}$.

Finally, since the Ermakov equation for c > 0 on \mathbf{E}^2 (1.1) is recovered from the above expressions on $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$ for the particular case when $\kappa_1 \to 0$ and $\kappa_2 = +1$, we call the LH system (6.11) the curved Ermakov equation for c > 0.

7 Conclusions and final remarks

In this work, the isometry-based formalism proposed in [37] has been completed and expanded from a conformal-based point of view. As observed in Section 1, the curved LH systems obtained in [37] do not include any physically relevant applications, as no remarkable system appart from the complex Bernouilli equation belongs to the Euclidean I₂-LH class. Nevertheless, the conformal symmetries of the 1D and 2D CK spaces lead to a natural generalization of the Euclidean classes I₄ and P₂ to curved spaces: the so-called curved I₄ and P₂-LH classes. The former is defined on $\mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]} \times \mathbf{S}^1_{[\kappa]}$, the product of two 1D CK spaces, while the latter is defined on the proper 2D CK spaces $\mathbf{S}^2_{[\kappa_1],\kappa_2}$.

The curved I₄-LH class, obtained in Section 3, yields novel LH systems on two different spaces (see Table 2), being the Euclidean I₄-LH class recovered under the contraction $\kappa \to 0$. From this, the curved counterparts of systems belonging to the Euclidean I_4 -LH class arise in a natural way (see Section 4): curved coupled Riccati equations, a curved split-complex Riccati equation, a curved diffusion Riccati system, a curved Kummer–Schwarz equation and a curved Ermakov equation, being the well-known Euclidean systems retrieved under the contraction $\kappa \to 0$. In particular, the superposition rule for this curved class produces, after contraction $\kappa \to 0$, a new superposition rule for the Euclidean coupled Riccati equations (3.6), from which the well-known superposition rule for the Riccati equation is derived after projection. This example suggests the possibility that, although a Lie system on a manifold M is not necessarily a LH one, it may happen that the Lie system on $M \times M$ generated by the sum of the realizations spanning the VG Lie algebra of the system on M is a LH system. In this case, a superposition rule for the system on M can be obtained by projecting a superposition rule for the LH system on $M \times M$, the latter being more feasible to be obtained by means of the coalgebra formalism. Also, as pointed out in the expressions (3.10)and (4.28), we stress that the parameter κ can be considered as an integrable deformation of the initial Euclidean LH system. Following a similar ansatz, the curved P₂-LH class is presented in Section 5, from which new LH systems on the 2D CK spaces emerge (see Table 3), particularly recovering the Euclidean P₂-LH systems under the contraction $\kappa_1 \rightarrow 0$, with $\kappa_2 = +1$. Within this curved LH class, the curved analogues of a complex Riccati equation, of a Kummer–Schwarz equation and of a Ermakov equation are obtained in Section 6. As for the curved P_2 -LH class is concerned, the graded contraction parameters κ_1 and κ_2 (corresponding now to the curvature and the signature of the metric (2.14), can be considered as integrable deformation parameters (see (5.10)). Although the approximate systems obtained by truncation of the series in κ_i are generally not related to a VG algebra, and therefore do not inherit a definite geometrical structure, their solutions may be inferred using either the Lie symmetry method [53] or techniques of perturbation theory [54], taking into account that their solution must provide, in the limit $\kappa_i \to 0$, the solution of the non-perturbed system.

In this context, some natural open problems emerge, which are be expected to be (at least partially) solved by applying the same geometrical formalism. For instance, the higher-dimensional extension of the present work can be carried for the so-called 2ND CK spaces [55], for which the conformal symmetries can be derived following the same geometrical ansatz proposed in [35]. At this point, we must recall that, unlike the 2D case, not all the 2ND CK spaces are symplectic manifolds (the only sphere with a symplectic structure is the 2D one). Thus, it would be interesting to study those 2ND CK spaces admitting a symplectic form turning its conformal symmetries into Hamiltonian vector fields, from which new higher-dimensional (curved) LH classes would emerge. It is also worthy to be mentioned that the so-called rank-two CK spaces seem to possess a natural symplectic structure [55]. Nevertheless, its precise structure has not been found yet. Finally, it

would also be interesting to determine explicit solutions for those curved LH systems based on the book Lie algebra \mathfrak{b}_2 , which constitutes a distinguished subalgebra of $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$, as explicit solutions for the \mathfrak{b}_2 -LH systems on the Euclidean plane have been found recently [56].

Work along these various lines is currently in progress.

Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by Agencia Estatal de Investigación (Spain) under the grant PID2023-148373NB-I00 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033/FEDER, UE. F.J.H. acknowledges support by the Q-CAYLE Project funded by the Regional Government of Castilla y León (Junta de Castilla y León, Spain) and by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (MCIN) through the European Union funds NextGenerationEU (PRTR C17.I1). O.C. acknowledges a fellowship (grant C15/23) supported by Universidad Complutense de Madrid and Banco Santander. The authors also acknowledge the contribution of RED2022-134301-T funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/ 501100011033 (Spain).

Appendix. Fundamental relations of κ -trigonometric functions

Consider the κ -dependent trigonometric functions: κ -cosine $C_{\kappa}(u)$, κ -sine $S_{\kappa}(u)$, κ -tangent $T_{\kappa}(u)$ and κ -versed sine $V_{\kappa}(u)$ defined in (2.7) and (2.8). Assume that u and v are two arbitrary real arguments. Observe that in Sections 5 and 6, the label κ corresponds to κ_1 or to the product $\kappa_1\kappa_2$.

Their derivatives are given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u} \mathcal{C}_{\kappa}(u) = -\kappa \mathcal{S}_{\kappa}(u), \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u} \mathcal{S}_{\kappa}(u) = \mathcal{C}_{\kappa}(u),$$
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u} \mathcal{T}_{\kappa}(u) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_{\kappa}^{2}(u)}, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u} \mathcal{V}_{\kappa}(u) = \mathcal{S}_{\kappa}(u).$$

The main identities for such κ -functions read (see [41] for details):

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}^{2}(u) + \kappa \, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}^{2}(u) &= 1. \\ \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}(2u) &= \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}^{2}(u) - \kappa \, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}^{2}(u), \\ \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(2u) &= 2 \, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(u) \, \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}(u), \\ \mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(2u) &= 2 \, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}^{2}(u) = 4 \mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(u) - 2\kappa \mathbf{V}_{\kappa}^{2}(u), \\ \mathbf{T}_{\kappa}(2u) &= \frac{2 \, \mathbf{T}_{\kappa}(u)}{1 - \kappa \, \mathbf{T}_{\kappa}^{2}(u)}. \\ \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}^{2}\left(\frac{u}{2}\right) &= \frac{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa}(u) + 1}{2} = 1 - \kappa \frac{\mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(u)}{2}, \\ \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}^{2}\left(\frac{u}{2}\right) &= \frac{1 - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}(u)}{2\kappa} = \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(u), \\ \mathbf{T}_{\kappa}\left(\frac{u}{2}\right) &= \frac{1 - \mathbf{C}_{\kappa}(u)}{\kappa \, \mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(u)} = \frac{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(u)}{\mathbf{C}_{\kappa}(u) + 1} = \frac{\mathbf{V}_{\kappa}(u)}{\mathbf{S}_{\kappa}(u)} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} C_{\kappa}(u) &= \frac{1 - \kappa T_{\kappa}^{2}(\frac{u}{2})}{1 + \kappa T_{\kappa}^{2}(\frac{u}{2})}, \qquad S_{\kappa}(u) = \frac{2 T_{\kappa}(\frac{u}{2})}{1 + \kappa T_{\kappa}^{2}(\frac{u}{2})}, \\ V_{\kappa}(u) &= \frac{2 T_{\kappa}^{2}(\frac{u}{2})}{1 + \kappa T_{\kappa}^{2}(\frac{u}{2})}, \qquad T_{\kappa}(u) = \frac{2 T_{\kappa}(\frac{u}{2})}{1 - \kappa T_{\kappa}^{2}(\frac{u}{2})}. \\ C_{\kappa}(u \pm v) &= C_{\kappa}(u) C_{\kappa}(v) \mp \kappa S_{\kappa}(v) S_{\kappa}(u), \\ S_{\kappa}(u \pm v) &= S_{\kappa}(u) C_{\kappa}(v) \pm S_{\kappa}(v) C_{\kappa}(u), \\ V_{\kappa}(u \pm v) &= V_{\kappa}(u) + V_{\kappa}(v) - \kappa V_{\kappa}(u) V_{\kappa}(v) \pm S_{\kappa}(u) S_{\kappa}(v), \\ T_{\kappa}(u \pm v) &= \frac{T_{\kappa}(u) \pm T_{\kappa}(v)}{1 \mp \kappa T_{\kappa}(u) T_{\kappa}(v)}. \\ C_{\kappa}(u + v) + C_{\kappa}(u - v) &= 2 C_{\kappa}(u) C_{\kappa}(v), \\ S_{\kappa}(u + v) + S_{\kappa}(u - v) &= 2 S_{\kappa}(u) S_{\kappa}(v), \\ S_{\kappa}(u + v) - S_{\kappa}(u - v) &= 2 C_{\kappa}(u) S_{\kappa}(v), \\ V_{\kappa}(u + v) + V_{\kappa}(u - v) &= 2 (V_{\kappa}(u) + V_{\kappa}(v) - \kappa V_{\kappa}(u) V_{\kappa}(v)) \}, \\ V_{\kappa}(u + v) - V_{\kappa}(u - v) &= 2 (V_{\kappa}(u) + V_{\kappa}(v) - \kappa V_{\kappa}(u) V_{\kappa}(v)) \}, \\ V_{\kappa}(u + v) - V_{\kappa}(u - v) &= 2 S_{\kappa}(u) S_{\kappa}(v). \end{split}$$

References

- S. Lie and G. Scheffers. Vorlesungen über continuierliche Gruppen mit geometrischen und anderen Anwendungen. (Leipzig: B. G. Teubner) 1893.
- [2] E. Vessiot. Équations différentielles ordinaires du second ordre. Annales Fac. Sci. Toulouse 1ère Sér. 9 (1895) 1–26.
- [3] S. Shnider and P. Winternitz. Classification of systems of nonlinear ordinary differential equations with superposition principles. J. Math. Phys. 25 (1984) 3155–3165. doi:10.1063/1.526085
- [4] T. C. Bountis, V. Papageorgiou and P. Winternitz. On the integrability of systems of nonlinear ordinary differential equations with superposition principles. J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986) 1215–1224. doi:10.1063/1.527128
- [5] J. de Lucas and C. Sardón. A Guide to Lie Systems with Compatible Geometric Structures. (Singapore: World Scientific) 2020. doi:10.1142/q0208
- [6] J. F. Cariñena, J. Grabowski and G. Marmo. Superposition rules, Lie theorem and partial differential equations. *Rep. Math. Phys.* 60 (2007) 237–258. doi:10.1016/S0034-4877(07)80137-6
- [7] A. Ballesteros, A. Blasco, F. J. Herranz, J. de Lucas and C. Sardón. Lie-Hamilton systems on the plane: Properties, classification and applications. J. Diff. Equ. 258 (2015) 2873–2907. doi:10.1016/j.jde.2014.12.031
- [8] A. Blasco, F. J. Herranz, J. de Lucas and C. Sardón. Lie-Hamilton systems on the plane: Applications and superposition rules. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 48 (2015) 345202. doi:10.1088/1751-8113/48/34/345202
- [9] A. Ballesteros, J. F. Cariñena, F. J. Herranz, J. de Lucas and C. Sardón. From constants of motion to superposition rules for Lie–Hamilton systems. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 46 (2013) 285203. doi:10.1088/1751-8113/46/28/285203
- [10] V. P. Ermakov. Second-order differential equations: Conditions of complete integrability. Universita Izvestia Kiev, Series III 9 (1880) 1–25 (in Russian).
 Ibid Appl. Anal. Discrete Math. 2 (2008) 123–145 (in English). doi:10.2298/AADM0802123E
- [11] P. G. L. Leach. Generalized Ermakov systems. Phys. Lett. A 158 (1991) 102–106. doi:10.1016/0375-9601(91)90908-Q

- [12] M. Maamache. Ermakov systems, exact solution, and geometrical angles and phases. Phys. Rev. A 52 (1995) 936–940. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.52.936
- [13] P. G. L. Leach and S. K. Andriopoulos. The Ermakov equation: A commentary. Appl. Anal. Discrete Math. 2 (2008) 146–157. doi:10.2298/AADM0802146L
- [14] J. F. Cariñena, J. de Lucas and M. F. Rañada. Recent applications of the theory of Lie systems in Ermakov systems. Symmetry Integrability Geom.: Methods Appl. 4 (2008) 031. doi:10.3842/SIGMA.2008.031
- [15] W. E. Milne. The numerical determination of characteristic numbers. Phys. Rev. 35 (1930) 863–867. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.35.863
- [16] E. Pinney. The nonlinear differential equation $y'' + p(x)y + cy^{-3} = 0$. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 1 (1950) 681. doi:10.1090/s0002-9939-1950-0037979-4
- [17] P. J. Olver. Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 107 (New York: Springer) 1993. doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-4350-2
- [18] J. Friš, V. Mandrosov, Y. A. Smorodinsky, M. Uhlíř and P. Winternitz. On higher symmetries in quantum mechanics. *Phys. Lett.* 16 (1965) 354–356. doi:10.1016/0031-9163(65)90885-1
- [19] A. Ballesteros, F. J. Herranz and F. Musso. The anisotropic oscillator on the 2D sphere and the hyperbolic plane Nonlinearity 26 (2013) 971–990. doi:10.1088/0951-7715/26/4/971
- [20] A. Ballesteros, R. Campoamor-Stursberg, E. Fernández-Saiz, F. J. Herranz and J. de Lucas. A unified approach to Poisson-Hopf deformations of Lie-Hamilton systems based on sl(2). In *Quantum Theory and Symmetries with Lie Theory and Its Applications in Physics*, Volume 1, V. Dobrev (ed.), Springer Proceedings in Mathematics & Statistics 263 (2018) 347-366. doi:10.1007/978-981-13-2715-5_23
- [21] M. Mariton and P. Bertrand. A homotopy algorithm for solving coupled Riccati equations. Optim. Contr. Appl. Meth. 6 (1985) 351–357. doi:10.1002/oca.4660060404
- [22] J. Campos. Möbius transformations and periodic solutions of complex Riccati equations. Bull. London Math. Soc. 29 (1997) 205–215. doi:10.1112/S0024609396002160
- [23] H. Żołądek. The method of holomorphic foliations in planar periodic systems: The case of Riccati equations. J. Differ. Equ. 165 (2000) 143–173. doi:10.1006/jdeq.1999.3721
- [24] A. I. Egorov. Riccati Equations. Russian Academic Monographs 5. (Sofia-Moscow: Pensoft Publ.) 2007.
- [25] P. Wilczyński. Planar nonautonomous polynomial equations: The Riccati equation. J. Diff. Equ. 244 (2008) 1304–1328. doi:10.1016/j.jde.2007.12.008
- [26] E. Suazo, S. K. Suslov and J. M. Vega-Guzmán. The Riccati differential equation and a diffusion-type equation. New York J. Math. 17A (2011) 225–244. https://eudml.org/doc/227520
- [27] R. Ortega. The complex periodic problem for a Riccati equation. Ann. Univ. Buchar. Math. Ser. 3 (2012) 219–226.
- [28] D. Schuch. Complex Riccati equations as a link between different approaches for the description of dissipative and irreversible systems J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 380 (2012) 012009. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/380/1/012009
- [29] E. Suazo, S. K. Suslov and J. M. Vega-Guzmán. The Riccati system and a diffusion-type equation. *Mathematics* 2 (2014) 96–118. doi:10.3390/math2020096
- [30] P. G. Estévez, F. J. Herranz, J. de Lucas and C. Sardón. Lie symmetries for Lie systems: Applications to systems of ODEs and PDEs. Appl. Math. Comput. 273 (2016) 435–452. doi:10.1016/j.amc.2015.09.078
- [31] A. M. Grundland and J. de Lucas. A Lie systems approach to the Riccati hierarchy and partial differential equations. J. Differ. Equ. 263 (2017) 299–337. doi:10.1016/j.jde.2017.02.038
- [32] L. M. Berkovich. Method of factorization of ordinary differential operators and some of its applications. Appl. Anal. Discrete Math. 1 (2007) 122–149. doi:10.2298/AADM0701122B

- [33] J. F. Cariñena, J. Grabowski and J. de Lucas. Superposition rules for higher order systems and their applications. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45 (2012) 185202. doi:10.1088/1751-8113/45/18/185202
- [34] J. de Lucas and C. Sardón. On Lie systems and Kummer-Schwarz equations. J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 033505. doi:10.1063/1.4794280
- [35] F. J. Herranz and M. Santander. Conformal symmetries of spacetimes. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35 (2002) 6601–6618. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/35/31/306
- [36] F. J. Herranz and M. Santander. Conformal compactification of spacetimes. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35 (2002) 6619–6629. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/35/31/307
- [37] F. J. Herranz, J. de Lucas and M. Tobolski. Lie–Hamilton systems on curved spaces: A geometrical approach. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 50 (2017) 495201. doi:10.1088/1751-8121/aa918f
- [38] R. L. Anderson, J. Harnad and P. Winternitz. Group theoretical approach to superposition rules for systems of Riccati equations. Lett. Math. Phys. 5 (1981) 143–148. doi:10.1007/BF00403243
- [39] S. Shnider and P. Winternitz. Nonlinear equations with superposition principles and the theory of transitive primitive Lie algebras. Lett. Math. Phys. 8 (1984) 69–78. doi:10.1007/BF00420043
- [40] R. W. Brockett. Lie theory and control systems defined on spheres. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 25 (1973) 213–225. doi:10.1137/0125025
- [41] F. J. Herranz, R. Ortega and M. Santander. Trigonometry of spacetimes: a new self-dual approach to a curvature/signature (in)dependent trigonometry. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 33 (2000) 4525–4551. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/33/24/309
- [42] F. J. Herranz, M. de Montigny, M. A. del Olmo and M. Santander. Cayley–Klein algebras as graded contractions of so(N + 1). J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 27 (1994) 2515–2526. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/27/7/027
- [43] E. Inonu and E. P. Wigner. On the Contraction of Groups and Their Representations. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 39 (1953) 510–524. doi:10.1073/PNAS.39.6.510
- [44] I. M. Yaglom. A Simple Non-Euclidean Geometry and Its Physical Basis. (New York: Springer) 1979.
- [45] N. A. Gromov and V. I. Man'ko. The Jordan–Schwinger representations of Cayley–Klein groups. I. The orthogonal groups. J. Math. Phys. 31 (1990) 1047–1053. doi:10.1063/1.528781
- [46] A. Ballesteros, F. J. Herranz, M. A. del Olmo and M. Santander. Quantum structure of the motion groups of the two-dimensional Cayley–Klein geometries. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 26 (1993) 5801–5823. doi:10.1088/0305-4470/26/21/019
- [47] A. Ballesteros, R. Campoamor-Stursberg, E. Fernández-Saiz, F. J. Herranz and J. de Lucas. Poisson-Hopf deformations of Lie-Hamilton systems revisited: deformed superposition rules and applications to the oscillator algebra. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 54 (2021) 205202. doi:10.1088/1751-8121/abf1db
- [48] P. Winternitz. Lie groups and solutions of nonlinear differential equations. In Nonlinear Phenomena (Lectures Notes in Physics vol. 189), K. B. Wolf (ed.). (New York: Springer) 1983, pp. 263–331.
- [49] V. V. Kisil. Geometry of Möbius Transformations: Elliptic, Parabolic and Hyperbolic Actions of SL₂(ℝ). (Singapore: World Scientific) 2012. doi:10.1142/p835
- [50] J. F. Cariñena and J. de Lucas. A nonlinear superposition rule for solutions of the Milne–Pinney equation. Phys. Lett. A 372 (2008) 5385–5389. doi:10.1016/j.physleta.2008.06.053
- [51] P. G. L. Leach. Equivalence classes of second-order ordinary differential equations with only a three-dimensional Lie algebra of point symmetries and linearisation, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 284 (2003), 31–48. doi:10.1016/S0022-247X(03)00147-1
- [52] R. Campoamor-Stursberg. An inverse problem in Lagrangian dynamics based on the preservation of symmetry groups. Application to systems with a position-dependent-mass, Acta Mech. 229 (2018), 211–229. doi:10.1007/s00707-017-1956-7

- [53] L. V. Ovsiannikov. Group Analysis of Differential Equations (New York: Academic Press) 1982.
- [54] M. Kummer. Class of Perturbation Theories of Ordinary Differential Equation, J. Math. Phys. 12 (1971), 4–23. doi:10.1063/1.1665483
- [55] F. J. Herranz and M. Santander. Homogeneous phase spaces: the Cayley–Klein framework. In *Geometry and Physics*, Memorias de la Real Academia de Ciencias, vol. XXXII, J. F Cariñena, E. Martinez and M. F. Rañada (eds.), Madrid (1998), 59–84. arXiv:physics/9702030
- [56] R. Campoamor-Stursberg, E. Fernández-Saiz and F. J. Herranz. Exact solutions and superposition rules for Hamiltonian systems generalizing time-dependent SIS epidemic models with stochastic fluctuations. AIMS. Math. 8 (2023) 24025–24052. doi:10.3934/math.20231225